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Five Years Financial Summary

T EHBERE

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
total equity/(capital deficiency) of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the Group’s audited financial
statements, is set out below:

(A) RESULTS 2 4%

ATRAEEBERAMBFRE 2 A
XE AE ABRRAER (BAAE
AM)BERE DREEAEEZKEZM
I E

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1t—HLEE
2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

“E-RE —T-—hHF —T-NNF —T—=F

TAET TET TET TET

2017

HK$'000

“E—tF

FET

Revenue g 529,884

718,879 721,810 481,571 322,896

Loss before income tax BrATS R AT E R (196,614)
Income tax credit/(expense) PFTiSFHE ®,~
(FAX) -

(264,330) (385,109) (377,592)  (343,589)

3,304 14,777 3,925 (3,922)

Loss for the year EREIE (196,614) (261,026) (370,332) (373,667) (347,511)

Loss attributable to non-  3E3% PR #E 25 e (Y
controlling interests B8 17,756

24,831 35,015 26,335 24,056

Loss attributable to the ViN/NEIE PN )

owners of the Company 18 (178,858) (236,195) (335,317) (347,332)  (323,455)
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Five Years Financial Summary

TEHBERE

(B) ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY/ LE SEERAES  (EARE
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY) 4h) e

As at 31 December

Rt+t=A=+-—H
2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF T RF ZT—hFTWHF ZT—=F
TERT FAT FAET FHET FAT

Non-current assets ERBEE 674,564 680,166 902,177 1,266,545 1,400,060
Current assets mENE E 1,411,855 1,243,954 1,466,044 1,140,579 1,234,757
Total assets BERE 2,086,419 1,924,120 2,368,221 2,407,124 2,634,817
Current liabilities mEaE 2,030,037 1,731,112 1,887,862 1,513,545 1,396,475
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 132,970 92,593 102,531 118,201 73,097
Total liabilities was 2,163,007 1,823,705 1,990,393 1,631,746 1,469,572

(Capital deficiency)/total (BAREH)

equity PR RS 481 (76,588) 100,415 377,828 775,378 1,165,245
— attributable to the —ARRFEEA

owners of the Company FEAg (8,666) 152,044 403,125 763,188 1,124,706
- Non-controlling interests ~ —3E#E A% 425 (67,922)  (51,629)  (25,297) 12,190 40,539
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Chairman’s Statement

TRE®/E

| am pleased to present on behalf of the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the “Directors”) to the shareholders the report
on the results on Rosan Resources Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017 (the “Year").

MARKET REVIEW

In view of the overall performance of coal industry in People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") for the Year 2017, coal mines
companies have generally achieved with positive outcome
resulting from the improvement in coal price in the past
two years. Referring to the Qinhuangdao Coal Price Index,
the average market price of thermal coal of 4,500 kcal was
approximately RMB300/ton in December 2015, RMB490/
ton in December 2016 and RMB480/ton in December 2017.
Along with the rebouncing trend of coal price since 2016 and
stable coal price in 2017, coal mine companies generally have
improved their profitability. Moreover, with the stability of the
PRC's economic growth, the domestic demand for energy is
still high, of which, coal energy has been playing an important
role for energy supply. With the accumulated coal stock level
has been reducing during the period of recovery of coal
industry in the past two years, coal mine companies have less
pressure on determining the coal price.

Although the PRC government is encouraging the market
players (both the suppliers and consumers) for using green
power to replace the traditional energy sources such as coal,
it may need much more time for the market to adapt, to
transform or to re-invest from the traditional energy sources
to the green power sources such as wind and water energy.
From the coal mine companies’ point of view, in order to
meet the environmental protection requirements, coal mine
companies need to invest continuously on their infrastructure
or machineries to reduce pollution or implement more
measurements.

Since 2011, the coal industry has been in excess production
capacity with decreasing coal price. The national goal was to
cut production capacity of coal by approximately 800 million
tons in the next 3-5 years from year 2011. Since the year
2016, the coal price has been increased from the lowest point
as a result of the successful control policies carried out by
the government in the past few years. However, due to the
coal price has been decreased for many years and the gearing
ratio for most of coal enterprises were generally high, so the
improvement of the coal price in year 2016 and year 2017
cannot immediate to change the fact that the industry has
suffered the previous weakness.

Rosan Resources Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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In year 2017, the total coal production capacity of the PRC
was approximately 3.45 billion tons (2016: approximately 3.34
billion tons), in which Henan Province of the PRC has achieved
the coal production capacity of approximately 106.0 million
tons (2016: approximately 108.5 million tons). Referring to
the overall increase in the coal production capacity during the
Year in the PRC, it indicated that the coal industry has been
improved and recovered from the worst market moment.

During the recent years of market recovery, coal mines
companies have grasped the time to improve their production
efficiency and profitability as well as to achieve the target
to promote safety production, environmental protection and
innovative development to strengthen the future development.

Following the market practice, the Company will carry on to
implement safety controls on the coal mines and will put more
efforts to risk control procedures in order to maintain the
safety production at a high level. The Company will strengthen
the environmental safety and environmental protection, to
further secure the coal production and the sales in the future.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year 2017, the Company's coal production was
affected by the pro-long suspension of coal mines. All the coal
mines of the Company have been suspended since January
2017 by the order of the government. Nevertheless, the
Company has kept its focus on the coal trading business and
the Company has strived to sustain during the challenging
period. Two of the Company’s coal mines have received the
resumption notices from the government in November 2017
and one of the coal mines has also received the resumption
notice in March 2018. Although Year 2017 was still a
challenging year to the Company, the revenue recorded for the
Year merely dropped by approximately 26.3%, i.e. Year 2017:
approximately HK$529.9 million (Year 2016: approximately
HK$718.9 million).

Chairman’s Statement

ER®|E

ZE—+F AR RERSY B345E
WE( —ZT— /N4 :#33.418H)  H e
T F A B IR B R EEE49106,000,000ME ( —
T — X4 1 49108,500,000MF ) - EE A F A
PR IR EREEE N RPAKKITEDS
HEEENTSERETEI RS REH-

FERTISERERE  REDQRILER#
RELERXRAMEN TERRER
EAE  RIRRE R BRI K
KERHBIR

RIBT IS BH - ANRE & KR T
LR W RIRAE S5 REUA B iE
HIRER - MR K FREEE - ARFR
KEMBRREL 2 MRFERE NE—F
RIBRRAEERHE -

¥ 7O B

ZE—tF ARREREES D EER
FEFE - ARAMEREEHE T —+t
F—AREE A AABISEFEITER
BHER WENEEKE - KA B MERK
BR_ZE—tF+—-ABRIBGNEE
B S—AKBIR-_ZE—N\F=ZAK
FBANEERMN - BEAFEHARA
MEMAREBREMEN—F BEXFE
WA T A263% BT —+F4815
A #9529,900,000/8 7T ( —Z — /N5 : 4
718,900,000/ 7T) ©

BEERIERERLT 2017FFR 7 -




Chairman’s Statement

TRE®/E

Suspension and Resumption of Coal Mines

In January 2017, a gas outburst was occurred in a coal mine
of Denfeng City, Zhenzhou, the PRC. The relevant government
authority has requested that all the coal mines within the
Denfeng City (including all the Company’s coal mines) needed
to be suspended in production and operation. Till November
2017, two of the coal mines of the Company have received the
resumption notices from the government and the production
has been gradually resumed. One more coal mine has received
the resumption notice from the government in March 2018.
It is expected that the coal production may resume to normal
level in the year 2018.

Focus on Trading of Purchased Coal

During the period of coal mines suspensions in Year 2017, in
order to fulfill the customer’s order requirement, most of the
coal was supplied through coal trading business. However, as
the purchase cost for coal trading was comparatively higher
than the Company’s own production, the Company didn’t
achieve a favorable gross profit or net profit results. Upon
the resuming of respective coal mines since November 2017,
the Company can produce its own coal in order to lower the
cost and to achieve a more favorable result. The management
believes that, following the resumption of coal mines, more
coal will be produced by the Company’s coal mines instead
of purchase through coal trading, a more favorable result is
expected to be achieved in the future.

Acquisition of Building Materials Company

In order to explore into different income sources, the Company
has proposed to acquire a building materials company in
Henan Province in October 2017 and the acquisition has been
completed in early January 2018. Through the acquisition,
the Group would develop a new income stream. If in the
circumstance that the coal mines of the Company are
suspended again in the future, the Company can have another
income source during the suspension.

- 8 Rosan Resources Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017
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PROSPECT

Year 2016 and 2017, can be regarded as recovery years
for coal industry in the PRC since the commencement of
government control policies on coal supply in the past few
years. It is expected that the PRC economic growth will remain
stable in the coming years, the Group will continue to adjust
its response to the market environment.

Keeping focus on the Group’s existing coal business and at
the same time exploring the income stream from the newly
acquired building materials business, the Group will conduct
safe, effective and refined production, seek for opportunities
among challenges, and try every means to achieve cost
efficiency and revenue growth.

The Group will put sufficient efforts on keeping up with the
market to expand new development opportunities and to
promote business diversification, to broaden source of revenue
and to improve risk resistance of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$529.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 26.3% from approximately HK$718.9 million
of year ended 31 December 2016 (the “Last Year”). The
decrease in revenue was primarily due to the decrease in
sales volume and suspension of production and operation
of coal mines in Dengfeng City, Henan Province during the
Year. During the Year, the total sales volume of coal was
approximately 1,300,000 tons which was less than the sales
volume of the Last Year (approximately 1,896,000 tons) by
approximately 31.4%, in which, approximately 1,026,000
tons or approximately 78.9% (the Last Year: approximately
1,569,000 tons or approximately 82.8%) and approximately
274,000 tons or approximately 21.1% (the Last Year:
approximately 326,000 tons or approximately 17.2%) were
contributed by coal trading business and sales of produced
coal respectively.

Decrease in the sales volume of trading coal and produced
coal was mainly caused by the suspension of all coal mines in
Dengfeng City, Henan Province. In January 2017, the Group
has received a notification from the relevant government
authority regarding the suspension of production and
operation of all coal mines in Dengfeng City. This suspension
was due to a gas outburst that occurred in a coal mine
in Dengfeng City in early January 2017. This suspension
affected all coal mines in Dengfeng City, including all the coal
mines and suppliers of the Group. The Group faced the big
challenges to produce and purchase coals in Dengfeng City
during the Year. The average selling price of coal has increased
from approximately RMB324.5 per ton for the Last Year to
approximately RMB353.4 per ton for the Year. The decrease in
total revenue was mainly due to the decrease in sales volume,
although it was partially offset by the improved coal prices.

Cost of Sales and Gross Loss

The cost of sales and gross loss for the Year were
approximately HK$630.4 million (the Last Year: approximately
HK$805.1 million) and approximately HK$100.5 million (the
Last Year: approximately HK$86.2 million) respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The gross loss margin was increased from approximately
12.0% for the Last Year to approximately 19.0% for the Year.
During the Year, the average selling price per ton of the coals
produced by the Group’s coal mines was greater than Last
Year (The Year: approximately RMB373.1 per ton, the Last
Year: approximately RMB283.9 per ton). The increase in gross
loss was mainly due to the increase in average unit cost of
sales of produced coal during the Year. During the Year, most
of the coal mines in Dengfeng City faced the challenge on the
suspension order issued by the PRC government authority. The
coal mines of the Group maintained limited production during
the inspection period. Since the Group's coal mines have
carried out limited production scale, the optimal production
scale of each of the Group's coal mine cannot be reached and
their production capacity cannot be fully utilized. Hence, the
corresponding unit cost of sales was comparatively high and
the gross loss was increased.

Net Loss Attributable to the Owners of the Company

The net loss attributable to the owners of the Company for
the Year was approximately HK$178.9 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 24.3% as compared with the Last
Year of approximately HK$236.2 million. The reasons for the
decrease in net loss attributable to the owners of the Company
were mainly due to the decrease in impairment loss on certain
non-financial assets during the impairment assessment as
compared to the Last Year.

Though the coal market in the PRC has been recovered since
late 2016, the performance of the coal mines of the Group
was greatly affected by the suspension of all coal mines in
Dengfeng City during the Year. Also, the higher requirement
standards on coal mines’ safety and environmental protection
may induce unpredictable market trends and high operating
cost. With consideration of the recent performance of the
Group’s coal mines and the upstream coal business in the
PRC, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
was less than its carrying amount, the Group recognised an
impairment loss of approximately HK$15.9 million (the Last
Year: approximately HK$60.8 million) and approximately
HK$11.8 million (the Last Year: approximately HK$64.3 million)
on the property, plant and equipment and the mining rights
respectively. Such amounts included the full impairment loss
of approximately HK$7.8 million and approximately HK$13.0
million on the mining rights and related property, plant and
equipment respectively of Xiaohe Coal Mine No.3, which is
considered as low productivity and small scale.

EEENWKR DM

FEEERLE—FEIZN120%EMERSE
[E2419.0% - RAFE - NEBEHEFTE
ERRNSBEHNEEIRNLE—FE (K
FE BWHOAREIZAT F—FF:
B AREE2839T) - EEBEMNETER
AR AFEEERRNFEHBMBEEXRN
FH-ARFER  BFHMAS EREESP
EBRFABAZEENEIEESHE - &
FEBUTEBFI R AR E R BN R E E
MEFERMNEE AR ASEKBEST
ERNEERE AEESEBHNRELE
ERBELER HEEEZZ2FA-A
bt RN S E R AR S - T EEIG 0 -

AATHEEAEBEBEFE

RAFE  KREHEE AREBIBFEY
178,900,000 70 & F—F € 7 BB F
R #7236,200,00078 TR 2 4924.3% - AR
BB ABGERFERLEZZANR
B fETPETHEEREERBEBER E—
FERD -

BEPREBERTHEE T - ~FREE
#HOEAEERBENRRIIAFEES
MHERBEENIR A E - 1IN GRE
BLE2RIRBERENESERIZE Al fE
BY MG BEE AN REERAS -
EZEREBAEEFEEIHORE KPR
WRER BeEEEM 2B EEEP
HEEEE AEERYE BERREAR
HIEHED B #915,900,00058 7T ( £ —
F € 1 960,800,000/ 7T ) & #911,800,000
Bt (F— 4 : 4964,300,0008 7T ) Z
BEERB - ZeERENIT=FE(EERE
IR BES/N) HEENZERERSEY
7,800,000/ T R HEEMZE - BB R EEN
S E E5 18 4913,000,0005%8 T ©

RESFERERAT 2017FFH Al




Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

Administrative Expenses

During the Year, the total administrative expenses amounted
to approximately HK$53.6 million (the Last Year: approximately
HK$44.6 million) which mainly comprised of: (i) employee
benefits expense of approximately HK$21.5 million (the
Last Year: approximately HK$17.4 million), (ii) amortisation
of mining right and other intangible assets amounted to
approximately HK$3.2 million (the Last Year: approximately
HK$6.4 million), and (iii) depreciation of property, plant and
equipment amounted to approximately HK$2.3 million (the
Last Year: approximately HK$2.7 million).

Finance Costs

The finance costs increased by approximately 6.8%
from approximately HK$39.7 million for the Last Year to
approximately HK$42.3 million for the Year. The increase in the
finance costs was mainly due to the increase in the average
amount of bank and other loans during the Year.

Accounts and Bills Receivables

As at 31 December 2017 (the “Current Year End”), the
accounts and bills receivables amounted to approximately
HK$221.3 million, representing an increase of approximately
25.3% as compared to the accounts and bills receivables as at
31 December 2016 (the “Last Year End”) of approximately
HK$176.7 million. The increase was mainly because the
customers of the Group have also faced with unfavorable coal
market environment in Dengfeng City and have slightly slowed
down the repayment period.

Amongst the total amount of accounts receivable (excluding
the bills receivable) as at the Current Year End, the largest
customer of the Group was also the largest debtor who has
contributed approximately HK$211.3 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB176.0 million) or approximately 95.5% of
the total accounts receivable amount. Considered the balance
due from the largest customer as at the Current Year End has
been fully settled subsequently, the Board therefore concluded
that no impairment is needed to be made on the outstanding
amounts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Accounts and Bills Payables

Bills payable as at the Current Year End amounted to
approximately HK$807.2 million (the Last Year End:
approximately HK$701.7 million) which contributed
approximately 98.7% (the Last Year End: approximately
95.8%) of the total amount of accounts and bills payables as
at the Current Year End, i.e. approximately HK$817.9 million
(the Last Year End: approximately HK$732.8 million). In order
to reduce the impact on the operational cash flow and liquidity
during the period of coal mines suspension, relatively higher
proportion of bills were issued to suppliers for settlement.
The bills payable as at the Current Year End has increased by
approximately HK$105.5 million or approximately 15.0%.

Other Payables and Accruals

The total amount of other payables and accruals have been
increased by approximately 14.8% from approximately
HK$434.9 million as at the Last Year End to approximately
HK$499.2 million as at the Current Year End. As at the
Current Year End, the other payables were mainly comprised
of provision for PRC retirement benefit scheme contributions
amounted to approximately HK$169.7 million (the Last
Year End: approximately HK$170.5 million), accrued coal
mines related removal and relocation expenses amounted
to approximately HK$58.3 million (the Last Year End:
approximately HK$56.0 million), receipt in advance amounted
to approximately HK$43.3 million (the Last Year End:
approximately HK$22.7 million), accrued workers’ wages and
benefits amounted to approximately HK$29.1 million (the
Last Year End: approximately HK$20.5 million), and advance
from directors of the Company amounting to approximately
HK$16.2 million (the Last Year End: approximately HK$8.0
million). Advance from directors of the Company were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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ESTIMATED COAL RESOURCES OF THE COAL AEENRE 2 GFFERER

MINES OF THE GROUP

The following table summarized the estimated coal resources TEBMAEENEBEA-ZE—+EK —

of the coal mines of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and = —

=

NET-_A=+—BHREERRE

2016: IR
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
mt mt
RZZE—tF RZZTE—RF
+=A +=H
=+—H =+—H
BEW B

Coal mines owned by the Group REEHARNERE

(i) Xiaohe Coal Mine No.1 () /N —HE 6.8 6.9
(i) Xiaohe Coal Mine No.2 (note 2) (i) /NAT —B& (K aE2) 1.5 1.5
(iii) Xiaohe Coal Mine No.3 (note 2) (i) /AT = 8% (K aE2) 1.7 1.7
(iv) Xiangyang Coal Mine (iv) AR5 T 14.4 145
(v) Xingyun Coal Mine (v) EE IR 3.4 34
27.8 28.0

Notes: Mz :

(1) Major assumptions adopted for the annual updates on the (1)
above estimated coal resources were:

(i)  Original coal resources of each coal mine were made
reference to the relevant coal resources reports and/or coal
mine information available to the Group at the time of
acquisition of the respective coal mines;

(i) Annual updates on the estimated coal resources for each
coal mine as at Current Year End were calculated as
follow:

(Estimated coal resources as at the Last Year End) — (Actual
coal production volume for the Year);

(iii)  There was no material structural change within the coal
mines that will cause the significant deviation between the
actual coal resources and the above annual updates.

(2)  The Group has decided to permanently close Xiaohe Coal Mine )
No.2 and Xiaohe Coal Mine No.3 since January 2016 and March
2018 respectively.

(3)  Except for (2) disclosed above, there was no material change of (3)
the above assumptions as compared with the previous year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the Current Year End, the net liabilities of the Group
was approximately HK$76.6 million (as at the Last Year End:
net assets of approximately HK$100.4 million) and the total
cash and bank balance (including pledged bank deposit) was
approximately HK$787.8 million (as at the Last Year End:
approximately HK$701.7 million). As at the Current Year
End, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$618.2 million (as at the Last Year End: approximately
HK$487.2 million) and its current ratio decreased from 0.72
times as at the Last Year End to 0.70 times as at the Current
Year End. The Group’s working capital was mainly financed
by internal cash flow generated from its operation and the
banking facilities granted by financial institutions.

As at the Current Year End, the Group’s accounts
receivable, net of any provision for impairment amounted
to approximately HK$221.3 million (as at the Last Year
End: approximately HK$174.1 million) and certain accounts
receivable were pledged to secure bank loans of the Group.
Subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this
report, certain pledged accounts receivable has been fully
settled.

As at the Current Year End, bank deposits amounted to
approximately HK$616.9 million (as at the Last Year End:
approximately HK$523.6 million) were pledged and not
available for the operation or repayment of debts of the
Group. Cash and cash equivalents which were not pledged
amounted to approximately HK$170.9 million (as at the Last
Year End: approximately HK$178.1 million).

As at the Current Year End, the Group has bank loans
amounting to approximately HK$611.0 million (as at the Last
Year End: approximately HK$473.2 million). The bank loans
bear interest at interest rates ranging from 3.20% to 13.64%
per annum (as at the Last Year End: at interest rates ranging
from 2.90% to 13.10% per annum).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DM

As at the Current Year End, approximately HK$694.9 million
(as at the Last Year End: approximately HK$597.3 million)
of the Group’s bills payable were secured by the Group’s
pledged time deposits, in which approximately HK$52.5 million
(as at the Last Year End: approximately HK$50.2 million)
were guaranteed by an independent third party whereas
approximately HK$72.0 million (as at the Last Year End:
approximately HK$67.0 million) were jointly guaranteed by a
shareholder of the Company, his spouse and an independent
third party. Also, approximately HK$112.3 million (as at the
Last Year End: approximately HK$104.4 million) of the Group’s
bills payable were guaranteed solely by an independent third
party without pledging of time deposits as at the Current Year
End.

The Group’s gearing ratio (as a ratio calculated by (a) the sum
of bank and other loans and amount due to an associate;
divided by (b) the net assets/(liabilities) of the Group) was
974.7% (as at the Last Year End: 563.5%).

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

To enhance the business social responsibility and to improve
its result, the Group has always been dedicated to fulfilling its
social responsibility. In deciding the appropriate policies, the
Group takes into consideration the impact on the environment,
the community and its employees, The Group has objective
to achieve the balance between economic benefit and the
environmental protection, as well as sustainable development
for the entire community.

The Group will inform its employees about the environmental
protection information that they can utilise in their working
environment. It is a wish that with a concept to be developed
amongst the employees, the Group and the employees as a
whole can contribute in environment protection.

In addition to the normal remuneration packages entitled
to the employees, the Group has provided them with other
benefits, such as medical subsidies and insurance, etc., for
the purpose of giving them job security. This has cultivated
stronger sense of belonging to the Group for its employees
and created a working environment of high spirit.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any other capital
commitments as at 31 December 2017.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the Year.

SAFETY PRODUCTION AND ENVIRONMENT
PROTECTION

The Group has always paid great attention to production
safety and environmental protection while achieving growth
in coal production. Thus, the Group makes great efforts in
promoting safety management and strengthening measures
for environmental protection, aiming at building itself into a
safety-oriented and environmentally-friendly enterprise.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure the Company
maintains a sound and effective risk management and internal
control system. The Group’s internal control system is designed
and established to ensure that assets are safeguarded against
improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations
are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant
accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements,
and key risks that may impact on the Group's performance are
appropriately identified and managed. Review of the Group’s
internal controls covering major financial, operational and
compliance controls, as well as risk management functions.
The internal control system can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss,
as they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Group’s risk management framework includes risk
identification, risk assessment, risk treatment and monitoring
and reviewing of the effectiveness of the measures. This
risk management framework is guided by the three-tier risk
management approach. At the first line of defense, business
units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring
risks associated with each business or deal. The management,
as the second line of defense, defines rule sets and models,
provides technical support, develops new systems and oversees
portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within the
acceptable range and that the first line of defense is effective.
As the final line of defense, the audit committee of the
Company, with the professional advices and opinions from the
external professional consultant by whom internal audit work
of the Group was conducted on annual basis, ensures that the
first and second lines of defense are effective through constant
inspection and monitoring.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Dong Cunling, aged 56, has been the executive director
of the Company and chairman of the Board since December
2011 and March 2012. He holds a professional diploma in
Chinese Language of Henan University, the PRC. Mr. Dong was
a college teacher in Dengfeng Municipal of Henan Province,
the PRC. Mr. Dong joined Henan Jinfeng Coal Industrial
Group Company Limited (“Jinfeng”), i.e. a subsidiary of the
Company, since 2003. He held several positions in Jinfeng
and he is currently a director of Jinfeng. He has extensive
experience in the management of coal mines.

Mr. Wu Jiahong, aged 51, has been the executive director of
the Company since 2006. He holds a Bachelor of Art diploma
from the Beijing Foreign Studies University of Beijing, the
PRC and a Master of Business Administration degree from
the Georgetown University in the United States. He has over
21 years of experience in corporate finance and strategic
management. He is responsible for the management and
financial operation of the Group.

Mr. Zhang Yi, aged 31, has been the executive director of
the Company since February 2018. He graduated in 2008 from
Yangtze University major in Human Resources Management.
He has approximately 6 years of experience in the financial
industry, specialize in feasibility study of projects, investment
analysis and project development. He is currently a manager of
a real estate company. He has also served as customer service
manager of a bank in China.

Mr. Zhou Guangwen, aged 49, has been the executive
director of the Company since February 2012. He graduated
with Doctor of Philosophy from Peking University of the
PRC. Mr. Zhou has extensive working experience as a senior
management in certain local bank and security company
in the PRC. He is currently the president of Ginkgo Capital
Management Co., Limited which specialises in asset
management and securities investment. Mr. Zhou is one of
the first batch of the people in the PRC to engage in securities
industry.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Li Chunyan, aged 53, has been the non-executive
director of the Company since December 2011. He is currently
a registered lawyer at Henan Shi Ji Tong Law Firm (f] /gt
4IRERE AT in the PRC and is also a certified public
accountant, certified public valuer and certified tax agent
in the PRC. Mr. Li has acted as a legal adviser to the Henan
Provincial People's Hospital, the Henan TV Station and certain
listed companies in the PRC. Mr. Li was an independent non-
executive director in six PRC listed companies during the period
from 2002 to 2008. He is currently an independent non-
executive director (appointed in 2014 and will be retired in
2020) of Zhengzhou Yutong Bus Co., Ltd which listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange of the PRC. Mr. Li is also currently an
independent non-executive director of Zhongyu Gas Holdings
Limited since October 2010, which is listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chen Renbao, aged 55, has been the independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 2011.
He received his Bachelor of Arts in Economics from Anhui
University, the PRC, in 1985. After graduated from Anhui
University, Dr. Chen received his Master of Arts in Demography
in 1989, Ph.D. in insurance and Ph.D. in Demography from
the University of Pennsylvania, the United States, in 1993. Dr.
Chen acted as a director of US Keywise Capital Management
and consultant for the NUS Endowment Fund. He was an
independent non-executive director (resigned in 2013) of
Guangdong Midea Electric Appliances Co., Ltd which is listed
in Shenzhen Stock Exchange of the PRC. He currently acts
as a consultant in a number of PRC and overseas companies
to provide financial and risk management consultation and
training services to those companies.

Mr. Jiang Xiaohui, aged 51, has been the independent
non-executive director of the Company since July 2014. He
graduated with bachelor degree of laws from Southwest
University of Political Science and Law in China. He has been
engaged in the legal profession since 1990 and he is currently
an associate professor of Law in Henan University of Economics
and Law. He has served as legal counsel for several state-
owned banks in China as well as some well-known enterprises
located in Henan Province. Mr. Jiang has also involved in
the legal education and research in relation to the areas of
economic, civil and commercial. He has also participated in
economic and civil litigations for over 18 years.
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Mr. Ma Yueyong, aged 53, has been the independent non-
executive director since December 2011. He holds a Bachelor
Degree in Accounting from Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law (formerly known as Zhongnan University of Finance
and Economics), the PRC. He has also achieved postgraduate
qualification in Accounting from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics, the PRC. Mr. Ma was appointed as an
executive director and an independent non-executive director
in three PRC listed companies during the period from 1998
to 2004. Mr. Ma was an independent non-executive director
(resigned in 2014) of Henan Linzhou Heavy Machinery Co.,
Ltd. which is listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange of the PRC.
He is a certified public accountant in Reanda Certified Public
Accountant Co., Ltd. Henan Branch in the PRC since April
2011. Mr. Ma is a financial controller of Zhengzhou New
Dafang Heavy Industry Science & Technology Co., Ltd since
January 2013.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Hua, aged 39, was the executive director and
deputy chairman of the Company during the period from June
2010 to February 2018. Mr. Yang has been the chief executive
officer of the Company since April 2012. He graduated with
Master of Business Administration from the Business School
of National University of Singapore and with a Bachelor of Art
from Beijing Foreign Studies University. After graduation from
the university in Beijing, he has joined a state-owned enterprise
and involved in energy trading, economic environment analysis
on global energy market and risk control. He has also acted as
a trader in PRC for international commodities futures contracts
and derivative products. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in
financial market and risk management.

Mr. Li Chun On, aged 43, joined the Group in September
2006 and was the executive director of the Company during
the period from 2009 to 2013. Mr. Li is currently the company
secretary, the chief financial officer and the authorised
representative of the Company. He graduated with bachelor
degree in accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Li has more than 20 years of experience in
accounting and corporate financial management. Mr. Li is
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom.
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has
complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviation as set
out below.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code provides that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The non-executive director
and independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”) of the
Company do not have a specific term of appointment, but are
subject to rotation in accordance with bye-law 111 of the Bye-
laws of the Company. As the non-executive director and INEDs
of the Company are subject to rotation in accordance with the
Bye-laws of the Company, the Board considers that the non-
executive director and INEDs of the Company so appointed
with no specific term will not impair the quality of corporate
governance of the Company as required by the principle of
good governance laid down in A.4 of the CG Code.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code requires that the
independent non-executive directors and the non-executive
directors should attend general meetings. However, the non-
executive director of the Company, Mr. Li Chunyan, and all the
independent non-executive directors of the Company, were
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held in Hong Kong on 26 May 2017 due to other business.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by directors.
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have fully complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine
Directors and its composition is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Dong Cunling (Chairman)

Mr. Wu Jiahong

Mr. Zhang Yi (appointed in February 2018)
Mr. Zhou Guangwen

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Li Chunyan

INEDs

Dr. Chen Renbao
Mr. Ma Yueyong
Mr. Jiang Xiaohui

The brief biographical details of the Directors and the
relationship among them are set out in the section headed
"Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in the 2017
annual report of the Company, of which this report forms part.

RESPONSIBILITY OF BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board determines the overall strategies, monitors and
controls operating and financial performance and sets
appropriate policies to manage risks in pursuit of the Group's
strategic objectives. Matters reserved for the Board are those
affecting the Group's overall strategic policies, finances and
shareholders including financial statements, dividend policies,
significant changes in accounting policy, material contracts
and major investment. Day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses is delegated to the executive Directors or senior
management. The Board reviews the delegation of power
and functions from time to time to ensure effectiveness and
appropriateness.
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ATTENDANCE OF THE BOARD AND BOARD
COMMITTEEES

The Board meets regularly during the Year and the Directors
have made active contribution to the affairs of the Group. The
following table shows the attendance of all the Directors at the
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2017:

N\

TEERBE

HEEEEREZEEEERRY

ey

EEenNFATCHETEEARSES N
AEBZEBELEGER - TRBERE
BEEREz—_Z—+F+-_A=+—H
EFEAEFEEENBE:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HEE/ SRR

Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
EE EEXe ENZEE FMZEe REZEE BREAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Dong Cunling ERREE 4/4 - - - 12
Mr. Chen Xu BRI8 st & 2/4 - - - 12
Mr. Wu Jiahong BRALE 2/4 - - - 012
Mr. Yang Hua BELE 4/4 - - - 1”2
Mr. Zhang Yi REEE - - _ _ _
Mr. Zhou Guangwen BENXLE 24 - 0/1 - 0
Non-Executive Director FHTER
Mr. Li Chunyan TERELE 1/4 - - - 12
INEDs BUFHITES
Dr. Chen Renbao RECEET 24 22 171 11 02
Mr. Ma Yueyong SEEEE 44 212 11 1/1 12
Mr. Jiang Xiaohui BBt 1/4 12 0/1 0/1 01

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TERITHAR

The positions and roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company are held and performed
separately by two individuals to ensure their respective
independence, accountability and responsibility. The Chairman,
being Mr. Dong Cunling is responsible for corporate planning
and market development. The Chief Executive Officer, being
Mr. Yang Hua, who performs the functions of chief executive
of the Group, is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Group.
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INEDS

One-third of the members of the Board consist of INEDs and at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each independent non-executive
director of the Company an annual confirmation of his
independence for the year ended 31 December 2017 pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers all
INEDs to be independent during the Year.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term
and subject to re-election. The non-executive Directors are not
appointed for specific terms but they are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings
("AGM") of the Company. Pursuant to bye-law 111 of the
Bye-laws of the Company, each director of the Company shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The Board considers that the non-executive Directors so
appointed with no specific term will not impair the quality of
corporate governance of the Group required by the principle of
good governance laid down in A.4 of the CG Code.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director of the Company are available and
accessible on the Company's website at http://www.irasia.com/
listco/hk/rrhl.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the Year, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach
to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company recognises
that increasing diversity at the Board level will support
the attainment of the Company's strategic objectives and
sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The nomination committee will give consideration to the Board

Diversity Policy when identifying suitably qualified candidates,
to become members of the Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“"Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Dr. Chen Renbao
(as chairman), Mr. Jiang Xiaohui and Mr. Ma Yueyong as at
the date of this report. During the Year, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting. The attendance record of the
committee is set out in the table on page 23 of the annual
report.

The principal role and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are to review the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and key executives, including
salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind and the terms on which they
participate in any share options and other plans considering
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and key
executives, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and
desirability of performance-based remuneration and making
recommendations to the Board from time to time.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
comprises three INEDs, namely Dr. Chen Renbao, Mr. Jiang
Xiaohui and Mr. Ma Yueyong (as chairman) as at the date of
this report. During the Year, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting. The attendance record of the committee is set
out in the table on page 23 of the annual report.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis
and to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
board members. It is also responsible for assessing the
independence of INEDs and making recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or reappointment of director and succession planning for
Directors. The Nomination Committee reviewed the board
diversity policy and the progress on achieving the objectives set
for implementing the said policy. The recommendations of the
nomination committee are then put forward for consideration
and adoption where appropriate, by the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely
Dr. Chen Renbao, Mr. Jiang Xiaohui and Mr. Ma Yueyong (as
chairman) as at the date of this report. The principal role and
functions of the Audit Committee are to review and provide
supervision over the Group's financial reporting process,
internal controls and risk management. The Audit Committee
also serves as a channel of communication between the Board
and the external auditor.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings.
The attendance record of the committee members at these
meetings are set out in the table on page 23 of the annual
report. The work performed by the audit committee during
the Year included reviewing the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017, the unaudited consolidated interim financial statements
of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2017 and
recommended such financial statements to the Board for
approval and also the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management practices of the Group.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that
Moore Stephens CPA Limited be nominated for re-appointment
as auditor of the Company at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities for performing
the corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee to
develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors; to review and monitor
the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors;
and to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

It also reviewed the Company's progress in implementing the
corporate governance requirements as set out in the CG Code.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the remuneration
paid or payable to the auditor of the Company, Moore
Stephens CPA Limited are set out below:

TEREREE

P BB B <
RBE-F—tF+-A=+—ALTE
MENREN R A AIREDAEFEER
HMEBHERAAZMEMT

Fee

Paid/payable

HK$'000

g1/

ENEH

Services rendered R 2R FHET

Audit services BEZRS 875

Non-audit services FEEZ RS

(Agreed-upon procedures on interim financial (FHB MR ZHBERF KX

statements and other services) H AR ) 915

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2017 have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, including Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and applicable Interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
other than the situations described in note 3.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Board is not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may affect the business of the Company or cast doubts on its
ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor, Moore
Stephens CPA Limited, are set out in the Independent Auditor's
Report on pages 48 to 50.
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DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' LIABILITY

Appropriate insurance cover on directors' and officers'
liabilities has been in force to protect the Directors and officers
of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the business
of the Group.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. A summary of training records received by the
Directors for the Year is set out as follows:

EEkEABEZEME
AATEHEEREAME L EECREE
ERE UREBEERAEEERBER
7 B RS A A 2 L o

EECREERER

RBEEERTAZTRIEXAGS  FIA
EERASEKEEEER NERNEH
HMB L MEREEEHESS
EHAE MR E R - FREF R ZIF
Z SRR AL T

Attending
conference(s)/
training
course(s)/
seminars Reading and/or
relevant to updates relevant
the business, to the business,

directors' directors'
duties or listing duties or listing
regulatory regulatory
requirements requirements
B
EEREY Rl
LtTEERE ESREN

=1 A- Ve tHEERE
BIRE BRHIMBRS

Directors X W = E
Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Dong Cunling EFIRESE v v
Mr. Chen Xu B NB 5 A - v
Mr. Wu Jiahong MR A e - v/
Mr. Yang Hua BERE - 4
Mr. Zhang Yi R AE v
Mr. Zhou Guangwen BAEX LA - v
Non-Executive Director FBITES

Mr. Li Chunyan FEERE - v/
INEDs BYFHTES

Dr. Chen Renbao BRIZCEE L v v
Mr. Ma Yueyong HBRELAE v v
Mr. Jiang Xiaohui BREELE L - v
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COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2017, the Company Secretary of the
Company, Mr. Li Chun On (“Mr. Li"), fulfills the requirement
under Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules. He has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs. Mr. Li reports to
the Chairman and is responsible for advising the Board on
governance matters. For the Year under review, Mr. Li has
taken over 15 hours of relevant professional training.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Company
maintains sound and effective internal controls to safeguard
the Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets at all
times. The Company has adopted a series of internal control
policies and procedures designed to provide reasonable
assurance for achieving objectives including effective and
efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations.

Details of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems
are set out in the section headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems” of the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 17 of this annual report.

During the year, the Group engaged an external professional
consultant to review and assess its risk management and
internal control systems and reported to the audit committee.
The review covered several parts of the systems including
risk management, and operational, financial and compliance
controls.

The Board, through the audit committee, has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December
2017 covering all material financial, operational and
compliance functions, is of the view that the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group are considered as effective and adequate.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with Shareholders. A Shareholders’ Communication Policy
setting out the Company's procedure in providing the
Shareholders with prompt and equal access to information
about the Company, in order to enable the Shareholders to
access the Company's overall performance, exercise their
rights in an informed manner and engage actively with the
Company. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to shareholders in a timely manner through a number of
formal channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum
for exchange of views between the Shareholders and the
Board. The Chairman of the Board, the Directors and senior
management of the Company and where applicable, the
INEDs, are available to answer questions at the shareholders'
meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders' meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of individual
Directors. Details of poll voting procedures are included in all
circulars to Shareholders which call for a general meeting and
are explained during proceedings of the meeting.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its Shareholders and investors. Information
about the Company's activities is provided in its interim and
annual reports, which are sent to Shareholders, analysts and/
or interested parties. Enquiries from Shareholders and investors
are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains a website at http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/rrhl,
where extensive information and updates on the Company's
business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are
posted.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedure for Shareholders to convene a special
general meeting

Shareholders can submit a requisition to convene a special
general meeting pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (the "Act”). The number of Shareholders
necessary for a requisition shall be representing not less than
one-tenth of the Company's paid-up capital as at the date of
requisition having the right to vote at the general meeting.

The written requisition must:

state the purposes of the special general meeting;

- be signed by all the requisitionists (may consist of one
or several documents in like form each singed by one or
more requisitionists); and

- be deposited at the Company's office in Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

- If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene a special general meeting, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, any themselves
convene a special general meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the said date.

Procedure for Shareholders to put forward proposals
at general meetings

Shareholders can submit a requisition to move a resolution at
an annual general meeting pursuant to Section 79 of the Act.

The number of Shareholders necessary for a requisition shall
be:

- representing not less than one-twentieth of the total
voting rights of all Shareholders having at the date of
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the
requisition relates; or

- not less than 100 Shareholders.
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The written requisition must:

- state the resolution, with a statement not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in
the proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at the meeting;

- be signed by all the requisitionists (may consist of one
or several documents in like form each singed by one or
more requisitionists);

- be deposited at the Company's office in Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary not less than
six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution and not less than
one week before the meeting in case of any other
requisition; and

- be deposited with a sum reasonably sufficient to
meet the Company's expenses in giving notice of
the resolution and circulating the statements of the
proposed resolution to all Shareholder in accordance
with the requirements under the applicable laws and
rules.

Enquires to the Board

The Company's website provides email address and telephone
to enable Shareholders to make any enquiries and concerns to
the Board. Shareholders may send their enquiries by post or
by email to the attention of the Company Secretary who will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no changes in the Company's constitutional
documents during the Year.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the Group’s business for the Year is set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 6 to page
9 and “Management Discussion and Analysis”on page 10
to page 17 of this annual report. Principal financial risks and
uncertainties (or contingent liabilities) facing the Group are
set out in Note 42 and Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are the production and
sale of coal and trading of purchased coal in the PRC.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at
that date are set out on pages 51 to 176 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
in respect of the Year.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 4 and 5 of
this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had not
made any material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies or significant investment.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION

Details of the Company’s share capital and share option during
the Year, together with the reasons therefore, are set out in
Notes 32 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities on the
Stock Exchange during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

EXCHANGE RISK EXPOSURE

The sales and purchases of the Group are predominantly in
RMB which is the functional currency of the related group
entities. The Board therefore is of the opinion that the Group’s
sensitivity to the change in foreign currency is low and the
Group does not hedge its foreign currency risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has a total of
approximately 1,630 employees located in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Salaries are reviewed annually with discretionary bonuses
being paid depending on individual performance. The Group
also provides other benefits including medical insurance and
pension funds. A share option scheme was adopted by the
Group on 27 May 2014 to enable the Directors to grant share
options to eligible participants including any employee of the
Group as incentive to their valuable contribution to the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee in accordance
with the requirements of the CG Code for the purposes of
reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process, internal controls and risk management.
The Audit Committee comprises three of the INEDs of the
Company. The members of the Audit Committee have
reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and are of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules and legal requirements and those
adequate disclosures have been made.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Corporate Governance Report are set out on
pages 21 to 32 of this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules throughout the financial year.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, to the knowledge of the Board, the Group
had complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a material impact on the business of the Group in all material
aspects and there were no circumstances of material breach or
non-compliance of applicable laws and regulations.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2017 and 2016 was nil. In addition, the Company’s share
premium account as at 31 December 2017, in the amount of
approximately HK$235.3 million (as at 31 December 2016:
approximately HK$235.3 million), can be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Year under review, the percentage of turnover
attributable to the largest customer and the five largest
customers of the Group accounted for 77.7% and 99.9%
respectively. The percentage of purchases attributable to the
largest supplier and the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for 83.9% and 99.6% respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Dong Cunling (Chairman)

Mr. Yang Hua (resigned in February 2018)
Mr. Chen Xu (resigned in February 2018)
Mr. Wu Jiahong

Mr. Zhang Yi (appointed in February 2018)
Mr. Zhou Guangwen

Non-Executive Director:
Mr. Li Chunyan

INEDs:

Dr. Chen Renbao
Mr. Ma Yueyong
Mr. Jiang Xiaohui

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from all INEDs and as at the date of this annual
report still considers them to be independent.

In accordance with bye-law 111 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Dong Cunling, Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Ma Yueyong and Mr.
Jiang Xiaohui will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for reelection at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 18 to 20 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director of the Company being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements, no director of the Company had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN THE
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures and Ordinance (the “SFO")) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SF0);
or were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or were required,
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pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules, to WEIT
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
(a) Long positions in the ordinary shares of the (a) RAEQXFEBERFZHERE
Company
Number of Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of
Name of Directors Nature of interest shares shares shareholdings
IR
BEEnA EEME ROBE MEEROGHEE BREDHK
Mr. Dong Cunling Personal interest 540,000 - 0.08%
BEFRELE (G- $4
Mr. Yang Hua Personal interest 10,089,196 - 1.42%
BERE EAE R
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO); or were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or were required, pursuant to the Model Code
contained in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2017.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

So far as was known to the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December 2017, the person, other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336
of the SFO were as follows:
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Long positions in the shares () RROFPZHE
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity shares shareholding
i RE
BRRERB A i RoEE A SN= e
(1) Retop International Investment Beneficial Owner 141,400,000 19.84%
Limited (Note 1) EnlEA A
MBI ERR AR (MIEE1)
(2) Vestfoco International Investment Interests in controlled 141,400,000 19.84%
Limited (“Vestfoco”) (Note 1) __corporation
HEERIRERRAR ([H#E]) T EEER
(MEEE1)
(3) Mr. Bao Hongkai (“Mr. Bao") Interests in controlled 141,400,000 19.84%
(Note 1) __corporation
B EE ([BEE]) LB ER
(MEE1)
BenechiaI Owner 675,000 0.09%
EmEB A
(4) Mr. Li Yupeng BenechiaI Owner 71,000,000 9.96%
TERTE Em#EB A
(5) Asia Mark Development Limited Beneficial owner 49,380,000 6.93%
(Note 2)
(FfF3E2) EnlEE A
(6) Mr. Kwong Ying Hou (Note 2) Interest in controlled 49,380,000 6.93%
- . ~_corporation
B4 (MFE2) R LEEER
Notes: BT
(M Retop International Investment Limited is beneficially M BRI E AR A RIAE L E

and wholly owned by Vestfoco of which Mr. Bao is
the sole beneficial owner. Accordingly, Vestfoco and
Mr. Bao are deemed to be interested in the shares of
the Company held by Retop International Investment
Limited.

(2) Asia Mark Development Limited is beneficially
and wholly owned by Mr. Kwong Ying Hou. He
is independent and not related to the Board or
management of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, no persons had an interest or
a short position in the shares and the underlying shares
as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

n2EHE MEXEREEZ
H—EDmBEAAEIL 2R
BEEWESNHINERRES
RABFEZARRBRMDTHESR

i

(2) Asia Mark Development Limited
HBESELEER2ERE K
BYNREEANREEGRER
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above and note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements, at no time during the Year were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

PENSION SCHEME AND COSTS

Details of the Group’s pension scheme and the employer’s
pension costs charged to the consolidated income statement
for the Year are set out in notes 3.18 and 11 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

In the opinion of the Board, the Group had no significant
obligations for long service payments to its employee pursuant
to the requirements under the Employment Ordinance,
Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong, at 31 December 2017.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has
not conducted any “connected transaction” or “continuing
connected transaction” (as defined under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules) which is subject to reporting and annual
review requirements under the Listing Rules. The transactions
disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements
as related party transactions did not fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected
transaction” (as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

No Directors are considered to have interest in any business
which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of the
Group.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made no charitable and other
donations (2016: Nil).
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statement, the Group had not any contingent liabilities as at
the 31 December 2017.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The 2018 Annual General Meeting (the “2018 AGM") of
the Company is scheduled on Wednesday, 30 May 2018. For
determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2018
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Friday, 25 May 2018 to Wednesday, 30 May 2018, both
days inclusive. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the 2018 AGM, all transfers of shares, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for
registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 24 May 2018

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business
was entered into or existed during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, a permitted
indemnity provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance was in force for the benefit of the Directors during
the Year.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES IN THE PAST
TWELVE MONTHS
As disclosed in note 40(a) to the consolidated financial

statement, a fund raising activity has been completed in
January 2018.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period are disclosed in
note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Moore
Stephens CPA Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Moore Stephens CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2018 AGM.

Dong Cunling
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 March 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of Rosan Resources Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Rosan Resources Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(together, the "Group”) set out on pages 51 to 176, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2017, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

B ZBA RS

MOORE STEPHENS

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
801-806 Silvercord, Tower 1,
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

T +852 2375 3180
F +852 2375 3828
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www.moorestephens.com.hk
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & BE RS

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements which indicates that the Group incurred a
consolidated net loss of approximately HK$196,614,000
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and, as of that date,
the Group’s has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$618,182,000 and a capital deficiency of approximately
HK$76,588,000, among which the outstanding borrowings
of approximately HK$1,468,817,000 (including bank
loans of approximately HK$610,998,000, other loans of
approximately HK$2,521,000, bills payables of approximately
HK$807,198,000 and interest-free loans provided by certain
related parties of approximately HK$48,100,000) are due
to repayment within one year from the reporting date or
repayable on demand.

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainties Related to Going Concern section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
HRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BED ]S

BRETEE(£)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENETNNEERARETSE

Impairment assessment of non-financial assets

FERMEEREG

(Refer to notes 3.12, 4(iv), 15, 17 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements)
(BB A T BMARMFES 12 4@v) 15 ~17K%18)

The management of the Company had performed
an impairment review in accordance with Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment
of Assets in relation to the Group’s coal
mining operation, which is considered by the
management as a cash-generating unit (“CGU").
The Group had recognised an impairment loss of
approximately HK$27,732,000 for the year ended
31 December 2017, allocating to the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$15,902,000 and mining rights
of approximately HK$11,830,000.
ERAREREERREBGTLEAEICHEER
BY BEBEORERBREBETREN G Z
FBREREERA A HEReEAEU([REE
£8ul) BEEEEREE_T—+F+_A
=+ —HIEFERRREREL27,732,000/8 7T -
DEEVE  BEMREHIREEL15,902,0008
7T R ERTERE4911,830,000/% 7T

The recoverable amount of the CGU was
determined based on fair value less costs of
disposal, which requires significant management’s
judgements concerning the estimated future cash
flows.
REEABEMMAIKESEBIERAFERLE
KABE FEEEERGAARKRREREED
B R Ao

Accordingly, we have identified management'’s
impairment assessment of the CGU as a key audit
matter.

At EFHEREURSELEMARMENG
BRlm—HBARETEE-

Our key procedures to address the matter included:
EERREZEFEMRDNEIZREFEEE:

- Discussed with the management of the

Company and the independent valuer engaged
by the Company (the “valuer”) regarding the
reasonableness of the valuation methodology being
adopted;

H SRRETEER EARZENBILAER
(TEEET ) s TR (R E T EN S IR 1L

—  Discussed with the management of the Company

and the valuer and the assumptions used in
the cash flow projection and challenged the
reasonableness of key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the business and industry; and

B BRRERERGEMNRESRIEREAN
BR BESFHEBRITENTH KBEER
BHAEEME: &

— Assessed the objectivity, competency and

experience of the valuer.

AHE A ER ) B R N R -
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B % AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
HRETEE

BRETEIE(£)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENETNNEERARETSE

Impairment assessment of prepayments,
deposits paid and receivables

ANFIEA BENRERERRENBER G

(Refer to notes 3.14, 4(iii), 24 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements)
(BL2BRAMBMERMTES. 14 - 4ii) » 24%25)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had
accounts receivable and prepayments, deposits
paid and other receivables amounting to
approximately HK$221,340,000 and approximately
HK$379,289,000 respectively. The Group had
recognised an impairment loss on other receivables
of approximately HK$455,000 while no impairment
loss was recognised for accounts receivable, during
the year ended 31 December 2017.
RZE—tF+-A=+—H' EBEEHNEK
R RN FIE - B MRS R H At BUGKIA S A
#3#9221,340,00078 7T & %£9379,289,000/8 7T * &
ZET—+tF+A=T—HILEFE E&H
B H At & W R IR B R R (B 1B 1R 49455,0008 7T
I 2R Bt FE W BR SR B SRR (BT 48

The estimated impairments are determined by the
management of the Company based on the credit
history of the counterparties and the current
market conditions.

MERER BERAREEEEARHFAINGEER
S RIRITHRETE

We have identified management's impairment
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables
and deposits paid as a key audit matter because
the amounts involved are significant and the
assessment require significant management
judgement.

Hih EEHEEEHRUERRENREHA]
YWl e RE EER—REREFFE EH
RS ENEREAN BAMFEERBELERX
| i
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Our key procedures to address the matter included:
EERBREZEFEMRKDONERIEFBHE:

- Obtained an ageing analysis of the deposits and
receivables from the management of the Company
and discussed with the management of the

Company whether the amounts are recoverable;
% BRAEBEREGERSNERH T
ARERENHRESERE ARG

—  Challenged the management’s assessment of the
recoverability of long outstanding and overdue

deposits paid and receivables;

REEEEHRABHE Mike RRUGIAN AT W

Bl ) 1

- Obtained credit information of certain debtors from
the management of the Company as part of the
assessment of the recoverability of the deposits

paid and receivables; and

TERE B MR e MR IR &Y AT Y @] 145 5F 44 &) — &6
Dot BERREEEBERETEBANEMEE

B R

- Checked subsequent settlements of deposits paid

and receivables on a sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information in the Group’s
2017 annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The audit committee of the Company assists the directors in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

B %A RS
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & BE RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee of the Company with
a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

B ZBA RS
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B & BE RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee
of the Company, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Wing Yin
Practising Certificate Number: P05035

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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Consolidated Income Statement

el s R

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2017 2016
Notes HKS$'000 HK$ 000
—E—tF —E—RF
M it FHET FAT
Revenue g 5 529,884 718,879
Cost of sales SHER A (630,373) (805,095)
Gross loss E%i] 5 (100,489) (86,216)
Other income E g A 5 41,152 59,835
Selling and distribution expenses  $H& ko tHFA (4,486) (5,874)
Administrative expenses TS (53,591) (44,580)
Other expenses EmAY (6,894) (3,510)
Finance costs B E A 7 (42,336) (39,656)
Share of results of associates FE(RER SN B SE4E (1,814) (2,038)
Share of results of a joint venture fE(E—FA S DEELS 31 (135)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —REKI B AR Z WS 36 - 2,783
Impairment loss on accounts JE UL BR 7R 2 R B B 1 SR 5E
receivable, net 24 - (20,448)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of HippWza s CREEER)
impairment loss on other B E R R EF 5
receivables, net 25 (455) 551
Impairment loss on mining rights  £EHE#E 2 REEE 17 (11,830) (64,274)
Impairment loss on property, plant 1% - iR R B 2 REEE
and equipment 15 (15,902) (60,768)
Loss before income tax CFREE NI 5] 8 (196,614) (264,330)
Income tax credit FrigBif e 9 - 3,304
Loss for the year FREE (196,614) (261,026)
Loss for the year attributable to: EE{h F A& :
Owners of the Company KABHER A (178,858) (236,195)
Non-controlling interests JEPTRGRE RS (17,756) (24,831)
(196,614) (261,026)
Loss per share attributable to ZAQFEEAELEBSRER
the owners of the Company
during the year
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) — E AR (Bl) 10 (25.097) (33.142)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REETHWER

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+F ZE—XRF
FET FAET
Loss for the year FREE (196,614) (261,026)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMEE(EE) WA
for the year
ltems that may be subsequently B EHoEEEncER ¢
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation BB INETS B TR R
of financial statements of foreign PE N Z%8
operations:
— subsidiaries —E AT (6,803) (5,903)
- a joint venture ——HEegrE 439 (403)
— associates — Bt QA 7,258 (6,881)
894 (13,187)
Share of other comprehensive loss of Eh—RHEE AR s Kt 2 EEE
an associate (1,283) (3,140)
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve & —FEp B8 2 &) 65 3 01 [ 5, )% &)
upon disposal of a subsidiary f# - (178)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FAE M2 HEEE
net of tax (389) (16,505)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZHEE B (197,003) (277,531)
Total comprehensive loss attributable B2 EEIEAE :
to:
Owners of the Company KABIHEE A (180,710) (251,081)
Non-controlling interests By e (16,293) (26,450)
(197,003) (277,531)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position .
;e BRI R

As at 31 December 2017 RZ-ZE—+F+=-_HA=+—8

2017 2016
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+F ZE—XRF
K et FEx FHETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YIE - RS MR 15 239,133 257,799
Goodwill FEES 16 - —
Mining rights g 17 326,535 318,153
Other intangible assets Hh & B 19 - -
Interests in associates NI E 20 101,938 97,775
Interest in a joint venture R—EEEDE LR 21 6,248 5,779
Available-for-sale financial assets AEHESmERE 22 710 660
674,564 680,166
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 23 14,056 3,604
Accounts and bills receivables FEWBE T N E 48 24 221,340 176,692
Prepayments, deposits and other FERTFOE e M E AR
receivables EE| 25 379,289 353,416
Tax recoverable EEEEEN 9,412 8,516
Pledged bank deposits BEIFRITER 26(a) 616,880 523,592
Cash and cash equivalents B RIESZEEER 26(b) 170,878 178,134
1,411,855 1,243,954
Current liabilities REEE
Accounts and bills payables FERTBR R R 4% 27 817,863 732,769
Other payables and accruals H R sRIBE R BT E A 28 499,175 434,900
Provision for reclamation obligations A28 & /A # & 29 99,480 90,222
Bank and other loans RITREMER 30 613,519 473,221
2,030,037 1,731,112
Net current liabilities REBAEFEE (618,182) (487,158)
Total assets less current liabilities AEER AR EE 56,382 193,008
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B BRI R

As at 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+F+_-_H=+—H

2017 2016
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF —ZT—RF
HtaE FET FHAT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to an associate FEA —FEIH & R BB 20 99,589 92,593
Bank and other loans IRITREMER 30 33,381 -
132,970 92,593
Net (liabilities)/assets (B EEFHE (76,588) 100,415
EQUITY AR
Share capital &N 32 71,267 71,267
(Deficit in reserves)/reserves Gla= -1 34(a) (79,933) 80,777
(Deficiency)/equity attributable 72 THEHE AEML 2 (B4t),
to the owners of the Company RZA#ER (8,666) 152,044
Non-controlling interests FEERAER (67,922) (51,629)
(Capital deficiency)/total equity (EAEAL), REXR A (76,588) 100,415
The consolidated financial statements on pages 51 to 176 ESIR176E NN BERRLESTERN
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of —E-N\FE=ZA-t+hBHEREBEET
Directors on 29 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: ZoWAHNUTATRERESE :
Dong Cunling E#FIK Zhang Yi ERH
Director EF Director #E*
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEa® X

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE-FT—+F+-—HA=+—HILFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RRREEAELR
Capital Statutory
Share  redemption Other Contributed ~ Exchange Capital reserve Non-
Share  premium* reserve* reserve*  suplust  fluctuation  reserve* fund*  Accumulated controlling Total
cpital  (Note 34(a))  (Note 34(a)  (Note 34(3)  (Note 34(a))  reserve*  (Note 34(a)  (Note 34(a)) losses* Total interest equity
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000  HK$'000
273
RivaE  BERE EtEE SARR EX EARR EEiE
WA (ide)  (Wide)  (Febde)  (WEe)  REGERE (WEde)  (Wide)  ZEE G HikER &t
TR T T AL TAL AL AL AL T Tin T T
At 1 January 2016 RZE-~"E-A-8 71,267 235334 50 55,387 452,966 149,400 2148 134492 (723213) 403,125 (25297) 377,828
Loss for the year EMER = = = = = = = - (3619) (236195 (4831 (261,026)
Other comprehensive loss for the yearE £ 41 2 Fl 518
Exchange loss on translation of BB/ ERE KRR 2 E
financial statements of foreign R &% :
operations
- subsidiaries -KEAR - - - - - (5313) - - - (5313) (590) (5,903)
- a joint venture ——HaEtE - - - - - (363) - - - (363) (40) (403)
- associates ~BERH - - - - - (6,193) = = = (6,193) (688) (6,881)
Release of exchange fluctuation  HE—EHBARBERE
reserve upon disposal of an RREEE
assoclate - - - - - (160) - - - (160) (18) (178)
Share of other comprehensive loss of EfE— B E DAL 2E
an associate BB - - - (2,857) - - - - - (2,857) (283) (3,140)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERZEFELE - - - (2.857) - (12009 = - (236,195 (251,081)  (26450)  (277,531)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHBAR = = - - - - - (564) 564 - 118 118
Transfer from contributed surplus to £ 4 \BS#EEE 251 Fiig
accumulated losses - - - - (452,325 - - - 452,325 - - -
Transfer from other reserve A EmEE = - - (17100 - - - - 17000 - - -
At 31 December 2016 R=E-"F+=A=1-A 71,267 235,334 50 35,430 641 137371 2148 133928 (489.419) 152,044 (51,629) 100,415
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. Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REREZB I X

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE-FT—+F+-_HA=+—HILFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ARARAARE
Capital Statutory Total
Share  redemption Other Contributed  Exchange Capital reserve Non- equity/
Share  premium* reserve*  reserve*  surplus* fluctuation  reserve* fund*  Accumulated controlling (capital

capital  (Note 34(a)) (Note 34(a) (Note 34(a)) (Note 34(a) reserve* (Note 34(a)) (Note34(a))  losses* Total interest ~ deficiency)

HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
U

RiEE  WEEE  AbER  saER EX  BAER REOHE REEE/

Ba (W) (Wia)  (MEseE) (W) BE@E (M) (WEde)  ZitEe &t FERER (G564

Tin Tin Tin TERL ThRL TR TR Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin

At 1 January 2017 R=Z-t5-A-A 267 235334 50 35,430 641 137,31 .42 133928 (489419 152,044 (51,629) 100415

Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - - (178858)  (1788%8)  (17,756)  (196,614)

Other comprehensive incomef(loss)  EREA 2
for the year WA/ (B8)
Exchange (oss)igain on translation  AE) EREEHE 2
of finandial statements of foreign 3 (E%8) /% :

operations

- subsidiaries -KBAA - - - - - (1,613) - - - (7,613) 810 (6,803)

- a joint venture -—HaELE - - - - - 395 - - - 395 u“ 39

- associates -BEN7 - - - - - 6,533 - - - 6,533 725 7,258
Share of other comprehensive loss of fEfs — R4 AT E A

an associate 2AFR - - - (1,167) - - - - - (1,167) (116) (1,283)
Total comprehensive loss for the yearF 2 A G B4 8 - - - (1,167) - (685) - - (178858)  (180,710)  (16,293)  (197,003)

Cash received in relation to AETELER BN S

subscription of ordinary shares** - - - 20,000 - - - - - 20,000 - 20,000
Transfer to other reserve REDERER - - - 12,303 - - - - (12303 - - -
At 31 December 2017 WoB-tE+=Azt-B M2 2353% 50 66,566 641 13668 27442 133928  (680.580)  (8666)  (67.922)  (76,589)
@ These accounts comprise the consolidated deficit in reserves of & ZE RN 79,900,000 L (=&

approximately HK$79.9 million (2016: reserves of approximately — N4 #4980,800,000% 7T ) Z 4R A
HK$80.8 million) in the consolidated statement of financial B RR R 2 A R EE A -
position.

**  The amount represents deposit of approximately HK$20.0 *%  ZEMIERAERNANTEER(R=

million received from Retop International Investment Limited, an TZ-NF-—A=ZBEK)E B IRHE
entity indirectly wholly owned by Mr. Bao Honghai (“Mr. Bao"), BRIREERAR(RAILEE(EBE
a substantial shareholder of the Company, for the subscription RV /N 7I;<ﬁx$)ﬁ?§£§%
of ordinary shares of the Company which was completed on 3 BEME )M S £20,000,0007% 7T
January 2018 (Notes 34(a)(viii) and 40 (a)(i)). (B #E34(a)(viii) 240 (a)(i))°
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows .
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2017 2016
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
—E—+tF —E-RF
it FHET FAET
Cash flows from operating ReTHeRLRE
activities
Loss before income tax BRETERAIEE (196,614) (264,330)
Adjustments for: FAEIER :
Share of results of associates FEMREEE N RIEE 1,814 2,038
Share of result of a joint venture  EfE—TALEEE (31) 135
Finance costs HBER 7 42,336 39,656
Amortisation of mining rights B RTRE 17 3,205 6,388
Amortisation of other intangible — B#EMEREE
assets 8 - 16
Write-down of inventories, net FEHR 407 197
Impairment loss on prepayments, TBFFUE &4 REMEKTIE L
deposits and other receivables REER 25 455 2,337
Impairment loss on property, plant ¥ - BiE k&& 2 ESE
and equipment 15 15,902 60,768
Impairment loss on mining rights  FEEREEE 17 11,830 64,274
Impairment loss on accounts YRR ERER
receivable 24 - 20,448
Interest income MEWA 5 (3,987) (18,423)
Depreciation nE 8 15 22,988 36,928
Loss on disposals of property, HEYE  FEKRE &R
plant and equipment 8 2,466 =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary ~ HE&—RREBARZUE 36 - (2,783)
Provision for reclamation HREREE
obligations 29 2,345 5,884
Utilisation of provision for DRRBERERE
reclamation obligation 29 - (3,374)
Reversal of provision for BOENENZUE RE REME
impairment on prepayments, WERIE 2 R E R
deposits and other receivables 25 - (2,888)
Reversal of provision for central Bl R RR RS 5B B
pension scheme 5 (36,915) (39,979)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HERTMRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2017 2016
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF —E—RF
HtaE FExT FHT
Operating loss before working EEEC PRI LERE
capital changes (133,799) (92,708)
Increase in inventories FEEm (10,188) (179)
Increase in accounts and bills TEN R T R Z 5N
receivables (30,063) (46,018)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TBAFIE - &4 & E i B IE
deposits and other receivables mD/(Em) 103,593 (8,459)
Decrease in accounts and bills ENBRZRZERD
payables (74,742) (215,462)
Increase in other payables and HioEAFB R IEBREM
accruals 36,820 37,701
Cash used in operations KEmBRE (108,379) (325,125)
Interest received BUH B 5 3,987 18,423
Interest paid BRFIE 7 (42,336) (39,636)
Income tax paid ERFES (242) (148)
Net cash used in operating activities F& ZEF AR L FE (146,970) (346,5006)
Cash flows from investing RETHZRERE
activities
Purchases of property, plant and BB HE &%
equipment 5] (5,390) (2,963)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HE9% FERZEREIE
plant and equipment 628 =
Net cash inflow on disposal of a HE—FANBARZRERAFE
subsidiary 36 - 1,544
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank ZERFITER(EM), D
deposits (51,610) 17,529
Net cash (used in)/generated from R&EZE(FA)/ FEHELZEE
investing activities (56,372) 16,110
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2017 2016
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF —E—RF
it FHET FAET
Cash flows from financing MEEHRERE
activities
Deposits received in advance in FRLERRE AW Z e
relation to the subscription of
ordinary shares 40(a)(i) 20,000 —
New bank loans HERITER 868,290 745,316
Repayments of bank loans ERFTER (770,295) (763,914)
Proceeds from other loan EMERFERIE 30 34,451 =
Repayments of other loan BERHE M E X (115) -
Proceeds of loan from a substantial — & F ZA%X R & =X A5 1E
shareholder 28 24,577 =
Decrease in amount due to a related i & — 2 @838 A £ ZIE R
party (242) =
Proceeds from a director’s loan —ZEEERMEFE 28 8,000 6,679
Net cash generated from/(used in) RBEEZBME/(FIH)ELZEE
financing activities 184,666 (11,919)
Net decrease in cash and cash  B&REESEERFERD
equivalents (18,676) (342,315)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 R—R—BzHReRkReEEER
January 178,134 541,224
Effect of foreign exchange rate NEEXEE, F 28
changes 11,420 (20,775)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 R+=ZA=+t—-AzE%
December kEEZEER 170,878 178,134
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Rosan Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is located at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.
The Company’'s shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are the production and sale
of coal and the trading of purchased coal in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The principal activities
and other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in note
14.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017 were approved for issue by the board
of directors of the Company on 29 March 2018.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs effective
from 1 January 2017

In the current year, the Group has applied a number
of amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") that are mandatorily effective for an
accounting period that begins on or after 1 January
2017. These amendments have been applied by the
Group for the first time in the current year unless
otherwise specified.

Amendments to  Disclosure Initiative
Hong Kong
Accounting
Standard
("HKAS") 7
Amendments to  Recognition of Deferred Tax
HKAS 12 Assets for Unrealised Losses

Amendments to  Annual improvements 2014-2016
HKFRS 12 Cycle

- 60 Rosan Resources Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

—REH
REERZERERAR(ERAT DA
EEREIMKZZERAT - HiE
1 #% = & {7 M Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda > N2 R B B BB & R
SFBRA AR ([BRAT])ERET -

AREREMBAR(TRER]) 2x
BEB/ETEARAMB(HE])
HEERBERRARBAKKES
HMB AR 2 ET2XBMHEMFFIEE
RIF AR BERRMTE14 -

BE_T—tF+_-_A=1t—HIF
B2 BRREARAEFTERN
—E-N\F=ZAZthBH#AETZE-

BRANHTE] RAER] BB

SR EBUHBREE

a1

() RAR=—T—tF—A—R%
RO AT BRI B R
Rt
RAFE AEECEAEES
SRS ((ERRHMAR])H
s EE — T —+tF—A—H
o2 14 B & T EART SR B A K
M B BB B R RR - R B A
SN B EITE A AEERA
FREERER -

BEAS AR WEXHHE
([BEBYTE
Bl ) ZE75%
CHEN)

BB gRTER| HAREIRE
F125(BFTA) 1BHEREL
FISRi&E
ERUEMELERN —F — U F
F125(BFIAR) EZT—X
F RN F

ek



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG 2. RINFET REBFTEBBER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HXEA([BBMBHRELE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued) Al &)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs effective (a) BN =ZEB—tF5—H—B4%

from 1 January 2017 (continued)

The adoption of these amendments to standards
do not have significant impact of the Group's
financial performance and financial position nor
any substantial changes in the Group’s accounting
policies and the presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

However, additional disclosure has been included
in note 26 (c) to satisfy the new disclosure
requirements introduced by the amendments to
HKAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure
Initiative, which require entities to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes. Also, the
transitional provision set out in the amendments
to HKAS 7 have been applied and hence no
comparative information is provided.

BZHE/RRIET BB BR
HER(E)
RiNZFEANERTH AR E MM
BRELRMBERAL BEKREY
g BAKEMEBRRRES
MEHRERN2F L EEREE

SR - B BB FE26(c)VE H BB IMK
B UANEE B ERETR
BEAIARRERER  REITHMN
SIARFIERE  ZEREKX
ERFHRE AEMBRERE
REAFEREEDAEENE
B BRESRENIRSE
MEBEHMES - I FEG
AHERIETRAEEEIRXEE
A B IR LA HY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs, which have been issued but

RANHET RIEFT BB BR

HEA(EEBMBREE

B D)

(b) ERHEMEERERZHFT RE
BRI ERMERERER
AEBARELRA R BRERTE
FALATT & 9840 HE i R AE 2R RO HT AT

are not yet effective, in the consolidated financial

statements:

HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments

HKFRS 2
Amendments

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15
Amendments

HKAS 40
Amendments
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Amendments to
HKFRSs

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 9
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification and Measurement
of Share-Based Payment
transactions'

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers!

Clarifications to HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers!

Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle?

Leases?

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?
Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments?
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE-FT—+F+-—HA=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG 2. RINFET REBFTEBBER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HXEA([BBMBHRELE
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued) Bl &)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been (b) CHEMEREKRERZHFHTRE

issued but are not yet effective (continued) BB BB ELER (&)
¢ R=Z—NF—F—B=E%
FIIAR)EE BR800 7o 73R

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018, with earlier application permitted

FER
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RZE—NF—HA—HzlHEE
January 2019, with earlier application permitted R EE BRERR £ 7R
FER
E The amendments were original intended to be 3 BRI RARBRNR _ZE—+%F—A

effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2017. The effective date has now been
deferred. Early application of the amendments
continues to be permitted.

— Rz RRBNEEREL
M-EMAMELR- AR
AR RERERI A

The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the related impact of adopting the above new
and revised HKFRSs. So far, it has concluded that
the above new and revised HKFRSs will be adopted
at the respective effective dates and the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on
the consolidated financial statements of the Group
except for the following:

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 has introduced new requirements for a)
classification and measurement of financial assets,
b) impairment of financial assets and c) general
hedge accounting.

AEBOHERAF] RIERTE
AERNEBETE 25 R1E
AREBR T2 LR FE] RIEFT
ERR AR AER R R - &
MEN KA RE R AR E B LRSI
BREKREAZE HEATER
BRAM -

BBUBHEERIFIN [ £/
TAJ

BREV B HmEENFEIRIIAR
a2 B EEMN D ERFTE  b)
TREERER)—REIPEE
R Y2 H)FTHLE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

With regards to the classification and measurement
of financial assets, financial assets that are within
the scope of HKFRS 9 are subsequently measured
at either amortised cost or fair value. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of each of the subsequent
accounting periods. All other financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of each of the
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that
have contractual terms that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”).
All other debt instrument financial assets and equity
investments are measured at their fair value at the
end of subsequent accounting periods with changes
in fair value recognized in profit or loss, except
that the group may make an irrevocable election to
present subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is neither held for trading
nor being contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 applies) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in
profit or loss and the cumulative fair value changes
will not be reclassified to profit or loss upon
derecognition of the investment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHEZE_—FT—+F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG 2. “',%W%ﬁq]'/,%ﬂlgn]'é,% 7IZ§$&
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING £ EA ([ BEBMERE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued) Bl &)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been (b) CHEMEREKRERZHFHTRE
issued but are not yet effective (continued) BB BB ELER (&)
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued) EBRIREEREIFE [SF

TH] (%)

With regards to the measurement of financial ﬁ;ﬁ? EAEANTEAEBZR(IR
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit N EFALER D ZERBEZ
or loss (“FVTPL"), HKFRS 9 requires that the amount HEMS  HEEREERSE
of change in the fair value of the financial liability TSR L WMEBEIEER
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of SEEARZBEATLEES
that liability is presented in other comprehensive SEREME2EWRARNZS B
income, unless the recognition of such changes ERNE 2 mEk s RS
in other comprehensive income would create or = éﬁz—m&j@a SH e st
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. @E cRABBZEERRII B
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial Q$1§“§bﬁ1§7ﬁ%§%ﬁ DEEE
liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified B o W EREF RS EE
to profit or loss. This differs from the accounting 395fT|—J BN E Bk A FEEt
treatment under HKAS 39, whereby the entire )\jﬁa zipﬁﬁﬁziﬁ&%ﬁiﬁﬁ
amount of the change in the fair value of the HBE) SN IBRTER

financial liability designated as fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

With regards to impairment of financial assets, HERMBEREMS  HEMK
HKFRS 9 has adopted an expected credit loss AR 9%}%5}%2@}/@\%@%%
model, as opposed to the incurred credit loss model EEER . MIEEEe s ERE
required under HKAS 39. In general, the adoption of B EMNE REEEHERE
the expected credit loss model will require the group o — M= IANTEERZEE
to assess at each reporting date whether there is BIERI S E S R EFN R IRE
a significant increase in credit risk of its financial B HemEENEERE B
assets since initial recognition and to recognise VA HERFE R D AMBIL AN - A7 HE
loss allowance equal to the lifetime or 12-month 2 S AR A B 1218 B T8 R ;j‘f
expected credit losses depending on whether or not EENEEEBEGRTEEZER
there is a significant increase in credit risk. RBANIBIEINTE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

With regards to the general hedge accounting
requirements, HKFRS 9 retains the three types of
hedge accounting mechanisms currently available
in HKAS 39. HKFRS 9 will provide greater flexibility
as to the types of transactions eligible for hedge
accounting, specifically by broadening the types of
instruments that qualify for hedging instruments
and the types of risk components of non-financial
items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In
addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled
and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic
relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge
effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced
disclosure requirements about the group’s risk
management activities have also been introduced.

HKFRS 9 contains specific transitional provisions
for (a) classification and measurement of financial
assets; (b) impairment of financial assets; and (c)
hedge accounting, which will be adopted by the
group when it applies HKFRS 9 in the year ending
31 December 2018.

The amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features
with Negative Compensation mainly clarify and
provide additional guidance as to when a debt
instrument financial asset with a prepayment option
would satisfy the “solely payment of principal and
interest” test.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2017, the
directors of the Company anticipate the following
potential impact on initial application of HKFRS 9:
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG 2. RINFET REBFTEBBER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HXEA([BBMBHRELE
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued) Al &)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

Impairment

The new impairment model in HKFRS 9 replaces
the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with an
“expected credit loss” model. Under the expected
credit loss model, it will no longer be necessary
for a loss event to occur before an impairment
loss is recognised. Instead, an entity is required to
recognise and measure either a 12-month expected
credit or a lifetime expected credit loss, depending
on the asset and the facts and circumstances. In
general, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of the expected credit loss
model of HKFRS 9 will result in earlier provision of
credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation to
the Group’s financial assets measured at amortised
costs and other items that subject to the impairment
provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by the
Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the
Company, if the expected credit loss model was to
be applied by the Group, the accumulated amount
of impairment loss to be recognised by the Group as
at 1 January 2018 would be increased as compared
to the accumulated amount recognised under
HKAS 39 mainly attributable to expected credit
losses provision on trade and other receivables.
Such further impairment recognised under expected
credit loss model would increase the opening
accumulated losses at 1 January 2018.

(b) EHEMEERERZHETRE
BRI BB EREER (&)
BB BEIREERFEIFR [ £ fF
TAE](#E)
1B
B HREERFOH AR
BEERABHREEESRE]E
KNI BB ERFE399 A
WMIBEELEE]ER - RIEEH
EEBEER  ERRREEE
2R NEEEEEEESE -
MR BERERRKITE12EA
TR EE BB EETERTER
EEEB(GTEERSERE
AME) BEME - NARES
TER FER BB ISREERFE
OB EEEREER  HE
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

At 31 December 2017, the Group held available-for-
sale equity investments stated at cost amounting to
approximately HK$710,000 which will be changed
as financial assets at FVTPL unless the Group
designates it as FVTOCI which the Group does not
intend to do so.

Accordingly, for those available-for-sale assets that
are measured at cost less any identified impairment
losses at the end of the reporting period, this
change in policy will have impact on the Group’s
financial performance and financial position, and
will increase volatility in profit or loss.

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model
for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related Interpretations when it
becomes effective.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG 2. RINFET REBFTEBBER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HXEA([BBMBHRELE
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued) Bl &)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been (b) CHEMEREKRERZHFHTRE

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity
should recognise revenue to depict the transfer
of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, HKFRS 15 introduces
a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, the Group will recognise revenue
when a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

Far more prescriptive guidance has been added
in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

HKFRS 15 contains a number of transitional
provisions as well as practical expedients to help
preparers so through the transition. Please refer to
HKFRS 15 for details.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in
more disclosures, however, based on the preliminary
assessment, they do not anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact
on the timing and amounts of revenue recognised in
the respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

With regards to lessee accounting, the distinction
of operating leases and finance leases, as required
by HKAS 17, has been replaced by a model which
requires a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability to be recognised for all leases by lessees
except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

Specifically, the right-of-use asset is initially
measured at cost and subsequently measured at
cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for
any re-measurement of the lease liability. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments. Furthermore, the
classification of cash flows will also be affected
as operating lease payments under HKAS 17 are
presented as operating cash flows; whereas, under
the HKFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be
split into a principal and an interest portion which
will be presented as financing and operating cash
flows respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HONG 2. RINFET REBFTEBBER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HXEA([BBMBHRELE
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") (continued) Bl &)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs that have been (b) CHEMEREKRERZHFHTRE

issued but are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16
substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require
a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating
lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 16.

The total operating lease commitments of the
Group in respect of leased land and buildings
and office equipment as at each of the reporting
dates are set out in Note 37(b), the management
of the Group expects that the adoption of HKFRS
16 is unlikely to result in significant impact on the
Group's result but it is expected that certain portion
of these lease commitments will be required to
be recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements
may result in changes in measurement, presentation
and disclosure as indicated above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements on pages
51 to 176 have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and
Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

The significant accounting policies that have been
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years
presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of
new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the
Group's consolidated financial statements, if any,
are disclosed in note 2.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under historical cost convention. The
measurement bases are fully described in the
accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
note 4.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FES:HBEMESE)
POLICIES (continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 3.1 RBEEE(E)
Going concern basis HELEEE

The Group incurred a consolidated net loss of
approximately HK$196,614,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2017 and, as of that date, the
Group has net current liabilities of approximately
HK$618,182,000 and a capital deficiency of
approximately HK$76,588,000, among which
the outstanding borrowings of approximately
HK$1,468,817,000 (including bank loans of
approximately HK$610,998,000 (note 30), other
loans of approximately HK$2,521,000 (note 30),
bills payables of approximately HK$807,198,000
(note 27) and interest-free loans provided by certain
related parties of approximately HK$48,100,000
(note 28)) are due for repayment within one year
from the reporting date or repayable on demand.
These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore, the Group may not be able to realise
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of its business.

In order to improve the Group’s financial positions,
liquidity and cash flows, the directors of the
Company have adopted or in the process of
adopting the following measures:

(@) The Group has been taking stringent cost
controls in different areas, such as applying
cost control measures in the cost of sales and
administrative expenses;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Going concern basis (continued)

(b)

The Group has been liaising with certain
banks in relation to the renewal of its bank
loans amounting to RMB508,851,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$610,998,000)
as at 31 December 2017, which would be
due for repayment within twelve months
from the reporting date. Subsequent to
the end of the reporting period and up to
the date when the consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issuance, the
Group has renewed certain bank borrowings
with an aggregate principal amount of
RMB273,900,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$328,883,000). These renewed loans will
be due for repayment during the period from
January 2019 to March 2019 accordingly. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company,
taken into account the long term relationships
and also their understanding from the
liaison with the banks, the remaining bank
borrowings with an aggregate principal
amount of RMB234,951,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$282,115,000) that will be
due for repayment within 12 months from
the reporting date can be renewed upon their
respective maturities;
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BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

(00 The Group has entered into three loan
agreements with three shareholders of
the Company, in which two of them are
substantial shareholders of the Company who
directly/indirectly own 23.27% and 12.26%
of the Company’s shares respectively as of
the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements. Pursuant to the loan
agreements, the three shareholders agreed to
provide unsecured and interest-free loans with
an aggregate amount of RMB600,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$743,565,000)
for a term of three years, in which part of
the loans amounting to RMB80,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$99,142,000)
has been advanced to the Group subsequently
to the reporting date (note 40 (b));

(d) The Group has entered into subscription
agreements to raise additional capital for
aggregate amount of HK$40,000,000 via
issuance of new shares of the Company
(note 40(a)). Such subscription has been
subsequently completed on 3 January 2018;
and

() The Group, from time to time, reviews its
investment projects and may adjust the
investment strategies in order to enhance the
cash flow position of the Group whenever it is
necessary.

Taking into account the above measures and after
assessing the Group’s current and future cash flow
positions, the directors of the Company are satisfied
that the Group will be able to meet their financial
obligations when they fall due. Accordingly, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

BE—ZF

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue in business
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to write down the carrying amounts of assets
to their estimated recoverable amounts, to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as
current assets and current liabilities respectively, and
to provide for any further liabilities which may arise.
The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interest having a deficit balance. All intra-group
transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described in the accounting
policy for subsidiaries below.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions.
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BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.2

3.3

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the
fair value of any investment retained and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. The group’s share
of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to the
consolidated income statement or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHZE_—FT—+F+_-_HA=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHTHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Business combination and goodwiill

3.3 ¥XAHEEE(E)

(continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recongised in consolidated income
statement.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recongised in consolidated income
statement.

When a business combination is achieved in
stages, the group’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date (i.e. the date when the group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument
and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value either recognised in
profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. If the contingent consideration is not
within the scope of HKAS 39, it is measured in
accordance with the appropriate HKFRS. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements .
e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Business combination and goodwiill

3.3 ¥XSHEEE(E)

(continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in
the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in consolidated income statement as a
bargain purchase gain.

After initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is
presented separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHTHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.3 Business combination and goodwiill

3.3 ¥KSHEEE (&)

(continued)

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test
of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purposes
of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (or groups
of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units. Impairment is determined by assessing
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating units (group of cash-
generating units) is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit (group of cash-generating units) and then to
the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of
in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.4

3.5

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

o the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group
has significant influence, which is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy
decision of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement
whereby the parties have rights to the net assets of
the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.5 Associates and joint ventures (continued)

Investment in associates or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method, less any
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held
for sale. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the investees’ identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investees net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment. Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group's share of the post-acquisition, post-tax
results of the investees and any impairment losses
for the year are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, whereas the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to zero and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the
equity method together with the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associates or the joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.5 Associates and joint ventures (continued) 3.5 BMEARIREELHE(E

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the investee, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in consolidated income
statement. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint venture is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates or joint venture.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa,
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, when the
Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in consolidated income statement. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset.

When investment in associates or a joint venture
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.6 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (“HKS$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions are initially recorded using the
functional currency rates ruling at the date of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates
of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. The gain
or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary
item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item. The functional currencies
of certain overseas subsidiaries, joint venture and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollars. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into the presentation currency of the Company
at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expense
items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.6

3.7

Foreign currency translation (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recorded in
other comprehensive income and the cumulative
balance is included in exchange reserve in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in exchange reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into HK$ at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value for the sale
of goods, net of value-added tax, rebates and
discounts. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably,
revenue is recognised as follows:

- Revenue from sale of coal, ancillary materials
and consumable tools and trading of
purchased coal are recognised upon transfer of
significant risks and rewards of ownership to
the customers. This is usually taken as the time
when goods are delivered and customer has
accepted the goods.

- Interest income is accrued on time-proportion
basis on the principal outstanding using
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

BE—ZF

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.8

3.9

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation. Other borrowing
costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill and
mining rights)

Intangible assets acquired separately are recognised
initially at cost. After initial recognition, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment loss.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful
lives is provided on straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of two years.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
carried at cost less any subsequent impairment
losses. Intangible assets are tested for impairment
as described below in note 3.12. Amortisation
commences when intangible assets are available for
use.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEBES)
POLICIES (continued)

3.9 Intangible assets (other than goodwill and

3.9 BEE(BERREERN)

mining rights) (continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the asset is
derecognised.

3.10 Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any identified impairment losses
and are amortised using units-of-production method
over the proved and probable reserves of the coal
mines.

3.11 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings held for own use which are situated on
leasehold land, where the fair value of the building
could be measured separately from the fair value
of the leasehold land at the inception of the lease,
and other items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress (“CIP"), are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any identified impairment losses. The cost of an
asset comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to the
working condition and location for its intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHTHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.11 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 311 Y% BERRE(E)

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
provided to write off the cost less their estimated
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

Buildings and mining The shorter of the lease
structures terms and 5% per
annum
Plant and machineries 4% to 33% per annum

Mining related machinery 10% to 20% per annum
and equipment
Furniture, fixtures and 10% to 20% per annum
equipment
Leasehold improvement  The shorter of the lease
terms and 10% to
20% per annum
Motor vehicles 10% to 25% per annum

The asset’s estimated residual value, depreciation
method and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in consolidated income statement.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs
and maintenance are charged to consolidated
income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHEZE_—FT—+F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHMES)
POLICIES (continued)

3.11 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 311 Y% BERREE)

CIP, which mainly represents construction on
buildings and mining structures, is stated at
cost less any identified impairment losses. Cost
comprises direct costs incurred during the periods
of construction, installation and testing. No
depreciation is provided on CIP. CIP is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when the construction is completed and
the asset is ready for use.

3.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years.

Goodwill and other intangible assets with an
indefinite useful life or those not yet available for
use are tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that
they are impaired. All other assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the
assets carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of time value of
money and the risk specific to the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

(continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment,
where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those of other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash inflow
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit (“CGU")).
As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at CGU level.
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those CGUs
that are expected to benefit from synergies of the
related business combination and represent the
lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purpose.

Impairment losses recognised for CGUs, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially
to the carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining
impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other
assets in the CGUs, except that the carrying value
of an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal, or value-in-use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

3.13 Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised
as assets of the Group at their fair value at the
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the consolidated statement of financial position as a
finance lease obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.13 Leasing (continued) 3.13 & (&)

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in
which case they are capitalised in accordance with
the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (note
3.8). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses
in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments, including the cost
of acquiring land held under operating leases,
are recognised as an expense on a straight line
basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising
under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period of which they are incurred. In the
event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a
straight line basis.

3.14 Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised when, and
only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular
way purchases of financial assets are recognised on
trade date. When financial assets are recognised
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus in the
case of investments not at fair value through profit
or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the
rights to receive cash flows from the investments
expire or are transferred and substantially all of
the risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred. At each reporting date, financial assets
are reviewed to assess whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. If any such evidence exists,
impairment loss is determined and recognised based
on the classification of the financial asset.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. These are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method, less any impairment
losses. Amortised cost is calculated taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate and transaction cost.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not
have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and
derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, they
are measured at cost less any identified impairment
losses at the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHEZE_—FT—+F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial assets (continued)

.14 ERMEE ()

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets other than
at fair value through profit or loss are reviewed to
determine whether there is any objective evidence
of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual
financial assets includes observable data that comes
to the attention of the Group about one or more of
the following loss events:

Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— A breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— It becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- Significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— A significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in an equity instrument
below its cost.

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets
include observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from the group of financial assets. Such
observable data includes but not limited to adverse
changes in the payment status of debtors in the
group and, national or local economic conditions
that correlate with defaults on the assets in the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHZE_—FT—+F+_-_HA=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss is
measured and recognised as follows:

(i)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an
impairment loss on loans and receivables
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the assets
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial assets original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition). The
amount of loss is recognised in consolidated
income statement of the period in which the
impairment occurs.

If, in subsequent period, the amount of
the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that
it does not result in a carrying amount of the
financial asset exceeding what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised at the date the impairment
is reversed. The amount of the reversal is
recognised in consolidated income statement
of the period in which the reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.14 Financial assets (continued)

.14 ERMEE ()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i) Available-for-sale financial assets

For available-for-sale equity investment that
is carried at cost, the amount of impairment
loss is measured as the difference between
the carrying amount of the asset and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return
for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss is not reversed.

3.15 Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities include bank and
other loans, accounts and bills payables, other
payables and accruals and amount due to an
associate.

Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All interest related charges
are recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs.

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying
amount is recognised in consolidated income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.15 Financial liabilities (continued)

Borrowings

Borrowings, which include bank and other
loans, are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost, any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
consolidated income statement over the period of
the borrowings using effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the reporting date.

Accounts and bills payables/other payables
and accruals/amount due to an associate

These are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

3.16 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Inventories comprise coal, spare
parts and consumable store for trading and own
consumption purposes. Costs of coal is determined
using weighted average basis whereas costs of spare
parts and consumables are stated at first-in, first-
out or weighted average basis as appropriate, and
in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprise direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHEZE_—FT—+F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.16 Inventories (continued) 3.16 EE (&)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

3.17 Income taxes

Income tax represents the sum of current and
deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:—

e when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.17 Income taxes (continued)

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

e  When the deferred tax asset relating to
the deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.17 Income taxes (continued)

3.17 B8 (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting,
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

o When the deferred tax asset relating to
the deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint venture, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. TESHTHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.17 Income taxes (continued)

3.17 B8 (&)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting,
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.18 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the consolidated income
statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.18 Employee benefits (continued) 3.18 BE®EHI (&)

Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries within the Group
which operate in the PRC are required to participate
in the central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These PRC subsidiaries are
required to contribute a percentage of their payroll
costs to the central pension scheme as specified by
the local municipal government. The contributions
are charged to the consolidated income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the central pension scheme.

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Share-based employee compensation

The Group operates equity-settled share-based
compensation plans for remuneration of its
employees and its directors.

All employee services received in exchange for
the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the share options
awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date
and excludes the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.18 Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based employee compensation
(continued)

All share-based compensation is recognised as an
expense in consolidated income statement with
a corresponding credit to share option reserve. If
vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply,
the expense is allocated over the vesting period,
based on the best available estimate of the number
of share options expected to vest. Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to
vest. Estimates are subsequently revised, if there
is any indication that the number of share options
expected to vest differs from previous estimates. No
adjustment to expense recognised in prior periods is
made if fewer share options ultimately are exercised
than originally vested.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs up to the nominal value of the share issued
are reallocated to share capital with any excess
being recorded as share premium. When the vested
share options are lapsed, forfeited or still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in equity will be transferred to retained
profits.

3.19 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short-term highly
liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.20 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

3.21 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future uncertain events
not wholly within the control of the Group are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.21 Provisions and contingent liabilities

(continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group
are initially measured at their fair values and, if not
designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured
at the higher of:

— the amount of the obligation under the
contract, as determined in accordance with
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets; and

—  the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with the revenue recognition
policies.

3.22 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segment and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported
to the executive directors for their decisions
about resources allocation to the Group’s
business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major product and service
lines.

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its consolidated financial
statements prepared under HKFRSs.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEHBESR)
POLICIES (continued)

3.23 Provision for reclamation obligations

3.23 AEERRE

The Group is required to make payments for
reclamation of the land after the underground
sites have been mined. Provision for reclamation
obligation is required when the Group has a
present obligation as a result of past event, and
it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at
the directors’ best estimation of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, and are discounted to present
value where the effect is material.

3.24 Fair value measurement

A number of assets and liabilities included in the
Group’'s consolidated financial statements require
measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities
utilises market observable inputs and data as far
as possible. Inputs used in determining fair value
measurements are categorised into different levels
based on how observable the inputs used in the
valuation technique utilised are (the “fair value
hierarchy"”):

Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for
identical items (unadjusted);

Level 2:  Observable direct or indirect inputs other
than Level 1 inputs;

Level 3:  Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived
from market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels
is based on the lowest level of the inputs used
that has a significant effect on the fair value
measurement of the item. Transfers of items
between levels are recognised in the period they
occur.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

3.

BE—ZF

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.24 Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group measures the CGU of production and
sale of coal impairment at fair value less cost of

disposal.

For more detailed information in relation to the fair
value measurement of the items above, please refer
to the applicable notes.

3.25 Related parties

(a)

or

A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the Company’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

3.25 Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Company.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal to the related actual results.
However, other than the judgement made by the
directors in respect of going concern as disclosed in note
3.1 above, the estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

(i) Depreciation

Other than CIP, the Group depreciates property,
plant and equipment using straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives ranging between 3 to
25 years, starting from the date on which the assets
are ready for productive use. The estimated useful
lives reflect the directors’ estimate of the periods
that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group's property,
plant and equipment. The carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment as at 31 December
2017 was approximately HK$239.1 million (2016:
approximately HK$257.8 million). Further details are
disclosed in note 15.

(ii) Amortisation of mining rights

The Group amortises its mining rights using a
units-of-production method, utilising only proved
and probable coal reserves as the depletion
base. The estimated coal reserves and the related
future economic benefits were estimated by the
directors of the Company. Accounting policy on
mining rights is set out in note 3.10. The carrying
amount of mining rights as at 31 December
2017 was approximately HK$326.5 million (2016:
approximately HK$318.2 million). Further details are
disclosed in note 17.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

4. EXGEHEFTRAEE
BARHEHRERE)

(iii) Impairment of prepayments, deposits paid

(iii) AAHE ENEERERFK

and receivables

The Group’s management determines impairment
of prepayments, deposits paid and receivables on
a regular basis. This estimate is based on credit
history of its counter parties and current market
conditions. Management reassesses the impairment
of prepayments, deposits paid and receivables at the
reporting date.

The Group’s management reviews prepayments,
deposits paid and receivables on a regular basis
to determine if any provision for impairment is
necessary. The impairment loss on prepayments,
deposits paid and receivables is established when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not
be able to collect all amounts due according to
the original terms of receivables, to receive the
services, products or acquire the business operations
according to the original terms of contracts.
Significant financial difficulties of the counter
parties, probability that the counter parties will
enter into bankruptcy or financial reorganisation,
and default or delinquency in payments are
considered indicators that the deposit/receivable
is impaired. The impairment loss of accounts
receivable and other receivables provided during
the year ended 31 December 2017 were nil (2016:
approximately HK$20.4 million) and approximately
HK$0.5 million (2016: approximately HK$2.3
million) respectively. Further details are disclosed in
notes 24 and 25 respectively.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(iv) Impairment of non-financial assets

(v)

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether
there is any indication that non-financial assets with
definite lives may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the assets in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in note 3.12. In assessing whether
there is any indication that non-financial assets may
be impaired, the Group considers indications from
both internal and external sources of information
such as evidence of obsolescence or decline in
economic performance of the assets, changes in
market conditions and economic environment.
These assessments are subjective and require
management’s judgements and estimations.

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$15.9 million (2016:
approximately HK$60.8 million) was recognised by
the Group and details of this impairment are set in
notes 15 and 18.

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
impairment loss on mining rights of approximately
HK$11.8 million (2016: approximately HK$64.3
million) was recognised by the Group and details of
this impairment are set out in notes 17 and 18.

Provision for reclamation obligations

The provision is reviewed regularly to verify that it
properly reflects the remaining obligation arising
from current and past mining activities. Provision
for land reclamation is determined by management
based on their best estimates of the current and
future costs, latest government policies and past
experiences. The carrying amount of provision
for reclamation obligations as at 31 December
2017 was approximately HK$99.5 million (2016:
approximately HK$90.2 million). Further details are
disclosed in note 29.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(continued)

(v)

(vi)

Provision for reclamation obligations
(continued)

Management determined that the probability
to make payment of such liability within twelve
months after the reporting period is remote taking
into account the industry practice and the Group’s
scenario, facts and circumstances. However,
management also considered that the relevant
government authorities have the sole discretion to
request payment of such liability. As the Group does
not have unconditional right to defer settlement
of such liability for at least twelve months after
the reporting period, accordingly, the provision
for reclamation obligations is classified as current
liabilities in accordance with HKAS 1(Revised).

Central pension scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Group in PRC are
required to contribute certain percentage on
their payroll costs for employees to the central
pension scheme. However, the implementation
and settlement of the contribution to the central
pension scheme varies among various Social Security
Bureaus in cities of the PRC, and the Group has not
finalised its contribution calculation and payments
with the local Social Security Bureau in the PRC.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required
in determining the amount of the contribution.
The Group recognised the contribution based on
management’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. WamRkEMKA
Revenue represents the income arising from the Group’s WaEREEF ZXB(BNERKEE
principal activities which are the production and sale of DEHEURBAKKES  EEA 2K
coal and the trading of purchased coal. Ao
Revenue and other income recognised during the year are FANER 2 WM EMRALT
as follows:
2017 2016
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF ZEAF
FET FHIT
Revenue Wz
Production and sale of coal Wik EE R IHE 117,987 108,219
Trading of purchased coal BEAEKE S 411,897 610,660
529,884 718,879

Gross (loss)/profit derived from:  (E&) EFRER :

Production and sale of coal HREERES (100,291) (92,941)
Trading of purchased coal BARERE (198) 6.725
(100,489) (86,216)
Other income Higlg A

Bank interest income RITH B M A 3,987 18,423

Reversal of provision for central B AURKE G EIR B
pension scheme 36,915 39,979
Sale of ancillary materials EENMEHEE 160 120
Others HAith 20 1,313
41,152 59,835
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive
directors of the Company (the “Executive Directors”)
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the Executive Directors are determined following the
Group’s major product and service lines.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that
is engaged in business activities from which the Group
may earn revenue and incur expenses, and is identified
on the basis of the internal management reporting
information that is provided to and regularly reviewed
by the Executive Directors in order to allocate resources
and assess performance of the segment. For the years
presented, the Executive Directors have determined that
the Group has only one operating segment as the Group
is principally engaged in the business of production and
sale of coal and the trading of purchased coal which is
the basis to allocate resources and assess performance.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from external customers is all
derived from the PRC and most of its non-current assets
are located in the PRC. The Company is an investment
holding company incorporated in Bermuda where the
Group does not have any activities. The Group has the
majority of its operations and workforce in the PRC, and
therefore, the PRC is considered as the Group's country
of domicile for the purpose of disclosures as required by
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments.

The geographical location of customers is based on the
location at which the services were provided or the goods
were delivered. The geographical location of the non-
current assets is based on the location of asset.

mEMBERRWE

BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2017, approximately
HK$487.1 million or 92% (2016: approximately
HK$628.5 million or 87.4%) of the Group's revenue
was derived from two customers (2016: one customer),
in which approximately HK$75.2 million (2016:
approximately HK$17.8 million) was contributed from
production and sale of coal operation and approximately
HK$411.9 million (2016: approximately HK$610.7
million) was contributed from trading of purchased coal

DEER(E)

FEEFER
HE-_ZT—+t&F+_A=+—HIHF
g REBU A #9487,100,000/8 78k
92%(=Z — 7% : #9628,500,0007%8
TLH87.4% ) REMBEFP(ZE—R
F:—REP) HF4975,200,000/%
JTL(ZZF—75%F : 417,800,000/ 7T )
HEREERHEEEKEIER O
411,900,000 t( ZF — < F : 4
610,700,000/ 70) RS AR E 5 %

operation. BERL -
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MIKEH
2017 2016
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E—+t& —T—RF
FET FHET
An analysis of finance costs is as MBERZ AT
follows:
Interests on bank and other loans IRITERZF B 39,976 36,085
Bank charges on bills receivable BERERECBIREWRER 2
discounted with recourse RITINE 2,360 3,571
42,336 39,656
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 8. KMRFIBBAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/ KBTS AIERE % (Gt A):
(crediting):
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF —E—RF
FET FHETT
Amortisation of mining rights** FRIEREEE S~ (M aF17)
(note 17) 3,205 6,388
Amortisation of other intangible Hibmp S ES(ffaE19)
assets** (note 19) - 16
Auditor’s remuneration** T2 ENRD BN 5 * *
— Audit services —EZ R 875 875
— Non-audit services — IEBZARTE 915 775
Cost of inventories recognised as WHRARSZ 2 FERAK
expenses 527,047 681,695
Depreciation* (note 15) FrE*(Hfat15) 22,988 36,928

Employee benefits expense (including EERMHEX (BIEEZEEEA

compensation of key management S (A1)

personnel) (note 11) 98,318 94,501
Exchange differences, net FEH Y - (1)
Loss on disposals of property, plant ~ HEWE  HERZE
and equipment, net BB 2,466 -
Minimum lease payments under Bl EBFERBAEHREZ
operating leases on land, buildings  &&HEEE N REMEMF**
and office equipment** 1,363 1,581
Provision for reclamation obligations — FAZR%E A #4& (f13129)
(note 29) 2,345 5,884
* Depreciation of approximately HK$20.7 million (2016: * #720,700,0008 ¢ (ZZE—NF: 4
approximately HK$34.2 million) has been included in 34,200,000 7T ) ZITEE T AEE
cost of sales and approximately HK$2.3 million (2016: AR % 492,300,000 7T ( Z & — X
approximately HK$2.7 million) has been included in F : 492,700,000/ 70 ) E st AR &
administrative expenses in the consolidated income W R ITHRFEZ A -
statement.

** Included in administrative expenses in the consolidated ** B AGAKREFRNITHRAIA -

income statement.

BMEERERERAT 2017FFHK




INCOME TAX CREDIT

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided for the year
in the consolidated financial statements as the Group has
tax losses brought forward from previous years (2016:
Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, corporate
income tax arising from operations in the PRC was
calculated at the statutory income tax rate of 25% of the
estimated assessable profits as determined in accordance
with the relevant income tax rules and regualtions in
the PRC. No corporate income tax has been provided
for the year ended 31 December 2017 as there was no
assessable profits arising from operations in the PRC
during the year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHZE_—FT—+F+_-_HA=+—HIFE

FRrEBE %

ENAEBREENGEFELE 2 FE
B EATERESHERRE

BHMBRREHBERB(ZT—RF:
=)o

HE_ZT—+tF+_A=+—HILF
B REFBREEMESHRA KRR
Bl RS BEMER IR
HRTERTRF 2 EEME R E
5%t E-HE-_T—+F+ -8
=t BUHFEYERCEMRS mﬁ
HEE RARAFERREEY
ELEERBGF

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF ZE—RF
FET FHAT
Current tax - Corporate income tax Eﬂ%ﬁlﬁ EERBH
— Under-provision in respect of prior BEFERENE
years - 148
- 148
Deferred tax EER IR
— Current year (note 31) —RFEEZ(KfaE31) - (3,452)
- (3,304)
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INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 9. FIBHiER (&)
A reconciliation between income tax credit to loss before BT 15 51 35 60 BARR AT 1S %5 Al B 1B 10
income tax at applicable tax rates is as follows: TR 7 EEROT -
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF —E—RF
FEx FHETT
Loss before income tax bR FT1S 1 Al &S 18 (196,614) (264,330)
Tax on loss before income tax, LA R AR ER TR
calculated at the applicable rates in STEBBERATERAIEE
the tax jurisdictions concerned | (45,762) (65,199)
Tax effect of non-taxable income HAERBUA 2 i IE & - (696)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 7~ A] H1%% B X 2 B 1B 52 & 27,986 42,499
Tax effect of deductible temporary AEZRENEREEZESN
differences not recognised Mg 2 (249) (4,310)
Tax losses not recognised RIERIIEE 18 18,067 24,309
Utilisation of previously unrecognised B R iR R HERTIBEE
tax losses (42) (55)
Under-provision in respect of prior year BfF EEBETE - 148
Income tax credit FrETiE R - (3,304)

The share of income tax expense attributable to a joint
venture amounting to Nil (2016: Nil) is included in share
of results of a joint venture in the consolidated income

statement.

—HAECEREFRGEHAXRKRE
(ZZT—R%F : B)EfF ARG RER
ZIEE—HaEhRER]-
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

10. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE 10.
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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RARFEEAREETRER

ARAREENEBEZBRERLEE
BRTRIATBEE

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
— 2t ZFTRF
FTET FET
Loss for the year attributable to the AR EERERRIEEEE
owners of the Company for the KAREEE AEIHFREE
purpose of basic and diluted loss per
share (178,858) (236,195)
2017 2016
Number of Number of
shares shares
‘000 ‘000
—E—tF kAN
R &R &8 8
TR T
Number of ordinary shares for the AR ESRERAREEEE
purpose of basic and diluted loss per & 217 A% INAE T
share 712,674 712,674

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 and
therefore, the amount of diluted loss per share is same as
the amount of basic loss per share.
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11.

12.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS REMUNERATION)

mEMBERRWE

BE-—_FT—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE

. EERIRX(BREEHNE)

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tHF —T—RF
FERT FAET
Wages, salaries, allowance and other  T%& - & 2B N
benefits in kind HEtEYF = 71,921 70,350
Retirement benefit scheme contribution RIRIEFIETEIH TR
defined contribution plans HEETE 26,397 24,151
98,318 94,501
At 31 December 2017, the Group had no forfeited R-ZE—+F+-_A=+—H K&
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the B3 4% ] AR HDRUAR SR F R K & 5
pension scheme in future years (2016: Nil). %;%%KZEEHM%%M:E—/_\E :
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 2. EEMS
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors, EH\EX%H§$E@|$M@J§£”1%’E“’E‘lj
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and disclosed &éﬁ;%@ﬁ{l,%1ﬁlj%3i3(1)(a) \\(/b\) ‘\,FC)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) &(f)%bﬁ&ﬁaﬁfﬁééﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬂ)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part ROIF2HZ B TIABRBIWT :
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, were as follows:
Retirement
Salaries Benefit
and Scheme
Fees allowances Contributions Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RIKER
e FeREH B @t
TERT TERT TER TER
2017 —B-tF
Executive Directors HTES
Wu Jiahong BRAL - 650 18 668
Yang Hua* o - 247 7 254
Dong Cunling BRI - 1,038 - 1,038
Zhou Guangwen AEX - 300 - 300
Chen Xu* BR B * - 240 - 240
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE-FT—+F+-_HA=+—HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 12. EEME(E)

Retirement
Salaries Benefit
and Scheme
Fees allowances  Contributions Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRIKER
ne HeRER BE 3 @t
THER THER TAERT THER
Non-Executive Director FRTESE
Li Chunyan *EE 300 - - 300
Independent Non-Executive B FEH{TES
Directors
Chen Renbao R 150 - - 150
Ma Yueyong SBE 150 - - 150
Jiang Xiaohui BEE 150 - - 150
750 2,475 25 3,250
*  Yang Hua and Chen Xu resigned as executive directors of *  BERRBE-ZE-N\F=-ANH
the Company with effect from 8 February 2018. BEETARARRRNITES -
Retirement
Salaries Benefit
and Scheme
Fees allowances  Contributions Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RIKEF
we e K28k ATEIHR @t
FAEx AT FET TAT
2016 TR
Executive Directors HITES
Wu Jiahong BRK AT - 650 18 668
Yang Hua ES - 247 6 253
Dong Cunling el = 1,040 = 1,040
Zhou Guangwen BAEX = 300 = 300
Chen Xu ) - 240 = 240
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 12. =M< (&)

Retirement

Salaries Benefit

and Scheme
Fees allowances  Contributions Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R
we e R STEIfR Bt
TR TR THL THL

Non-Executive Director FHTESR

Li Chunyan TEE 300 - - 300

Independent Non-Executive ~ ByuIFHITES

Directors
Chen Renbao BRLCE 150 - - 150
Ma Yueyong SRE 150 - - 150
Jiang Xiaohui BEE 150 - - 150
750 2,477 24 3,251
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FA AXEERENTESTAME
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining EAMANEB S EFZMARNEER
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office (2016: RS BRBUHE(ZZE X
Nil). FE)o
During the year, no share options were granted to the FRNWERESEAANEEBIRERS
directors in respect of their services to the Group (2016: MRHERE(ZZE—7RF  #)e
Nil).
There was no arrangement under which a director FR-WEIIZERBEESHITH
or chief executive waived or agreed to waive any BRYWNESREREETAMSHZHE
remuneration during the year (2016: Nil). (ZZE—RF:8|)o
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included four (2016: four)
directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented in note 12. The emoluments payable to the
remaining one individual (2016: one individual), whose
emolument fall within the salary band of HK$2,000,001
- HK$2,500,000, during the year ended 31 December
2017 were as follows:
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13. EREBEHFATREREEE

<=

FA AEERERSFALTEEN
HZE—ARF EHRB)EFT KEZ
e BERHFE1225 2 DT R H
B—HB(ZE—RF: —F)AL(H
B % B2 722,000,001 JT 22,500,000
BLTHFcEBARN)RBEE_ZE—tF
+ZA=+—HLEFEZMEHOT :

2017 2016
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E—+t & TE—RF
FExT FET

Basic salaries, housing benefits, other HEA#FH% - EEREF - HfbE8L
allowances and benefits in kind REWR = 2,080 2,080

Retirement benefit scheme RIREFIFT 8K

contributions 18 18
2,098 2,098

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office (2016: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, no share
options were granted to the remaining one highest paid
individual of the Group to subscribe for ordinary shares of
the Company (2016: Nil).

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management were within the following bands:

FR-AKEYEARLLARSHAL
A EAB & ERINARSE B B E
AR B 7 RN B KRB 2 #
B(ZF—RF )

BE_T—tF+-_A=1t—HLL#F
B -UYEAXASEBT -—BRSHA
ITREBREAERBARRR S B
(ZZ—R%F : E)-

ENSENEREEEKEZHMEN
FATEE :

2017 2016
No. of No. of
individual individual
—E—+tF —E—RF
A ANER

Emolument band & &3 [E]
Nil — HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T 8 8
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L £ 2,000,00078 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T %£2,500,0007% 7T 1 1
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Company had
direct and indirect interests in the following subsidiaries:

14.

mEMBERRWE

BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE

REBEARZRE
R-F—tFR-_F-—R"F+=-A
=t+—B ARERATHBEARE

<

BN E g

Percentage
of ownership
interest

held by the

Place of incorporation and Issued and paid

Place of operation and

Name type of legal entity up capital Company principal activities
NG
AL AR L 3t B BEAEDZ KEHER
2% EEERER ERTRAZRAE BAk FEXHK
Directly held
EERE
0 Beat World Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$ 1 100 Management service in
company Hong Kong
S\ BERRA BB BAREEAH 18T 100 REBUFERRSB
@ Clear Interest Limited  British Virgin Island (the “BVI"), US$200 100 Investment holding in the
("cIL") limited liability company PRC
RBERLES ((KBEX 2007 100 RPBERERERK
BBl BREMEARA
& Star Central Limited BVI, limited liability company US$1 100 Investment holding in Hong
Kong
RERZES AREERH 1%7T 100 REBUFREER
@ Rosan Clean Energy ~ Hong Kong, limited liability HK$10,000 51 Investment holding in Hong
Development company Kong
Company Limited
REFZERERER BB FRACLA 10,0007 7T 51 REBUEREERK
NS
B Xinfa Investments BVI, limited liability company Us$1 100 Investment holding in
Limited Hong Kong
MBREBRLA  HEEBRAES AREEAF (E 100 REBUHEREER
) Bermnsa Limited BVI, limited liability company Us$1 100 Management service in
Hong Kong
RBRAES ARAMEAF (B 100 REBREERRE
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 14. AMIBARIZEBRE (&)

Percentage
of ownership
interest
Place of incorporation and Issued and paid held by the Place of operation and
Name type of legal entity up capital Company principal activities
ERAfE
LA L 3 B BEAED REHHER
A% ERERERE ERTRARKRE At TEEE
Indirectly held
BERA
0 Popular Sky Coal Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1 100 Investment holding in the
Industrial Limited company PRC
EXEERBR AT BE BREERA 18T 100 R B EREER
@ Hong Kong Zhongyuan Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1 100 Investment holding in the
Energy Co., Limited company PRC
ERPRERERAG B8 BREEAA 1B 100 R B ERERK
& Hong Kong Zhongzhou Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1 100 Investment holding in the
Energy Co., Limited company PRC
EEBMEERERAR &8 BRAERA 1% 100 RAPEEERERK
19 Highlink Investments  BVI, limited liability company Us$1 100 Investment holding in Hong
Limited Kong
RBRAHES FREAAA 1%7T 100 REBHEREER
0 Alive Investments BVI, limited liability company Us$1 100 Investment holding in Hong
Limited Kong
RERZES AREERH 1%7T 100 REEREREEKR
12 Dynamic Coal Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1 100 Investment holding in Hong
Company Limited company Kong
BPREERRAT BE - BREEAT 18T 100 REEREFRERK
3 Dynamic Energy PRC, wholly foreign- owned HK$20,000,000 100 Investment holding in the
Development limited liability company PRC
(Shenzhen) Company
Limited*
APRRRE (R B IEBEAERAA 20,000,000 7T 100 NP BERERERR
BRRA
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation and

Percentage
of ownership
interest

Issued and paid held by the

BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE

14. AMB AR ZRE (&)

Place of operation and

Name type of legal entity up capital Company principal activities
EDAfE
B AR BEARLRZ KEBRR
L ERERERE ERTRARKRE Bt TEER
149 Beijing Zhong Yue PRC, wholly foreign- owned HK$160,000,000 100 Investment holding in the
Heneng limited liability company PRC
Technology Company
Limited*
R EMENEER TE SEBEERDA 160,000,000/ 7. 100 ReELEREER
NG|
5 Henan Jinfeng Coal PRC, limited liability company RMB118,000,000 90 Production and sale of coal
Industrial Group in the PRC
Company Limited*
("Jinfeng”)
MESEREEEER 1B FREERF ARE 90 RPBERERREERHEE
AE([£8]) 118,000,0007T
19 Shenzhen Zhongzhou  PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 90 Investment holding in the
Energy Company PRC
Limited*
AmEMERER  TE BRAEAF AR% 90 MBI EREER
NG| 10,000,0007T
17 Xingyun Coal Industry ~ PRC, limited liability company RMB60,000,000 90 Production and sale of coal
Company Limited* in
BEHMABRRER HE ARAEELA ARE 90 RPBERERREERKEE
NG 60,000,0007T
18 Xiangyang Coal PRC, limited liability company RMB50,000,000 90 Production and sale of coal
Industry Company in the PRC
Limited*
BHMEERRAR TE BEREERA ARE 90 RPBERERREERKEE
BEERA 50,000,0007C
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation and

Percentage

of ownership

interest

Issued and paid held by the

14. AMB AR ZRE (&)

Place of operation and

Name type of legal entity up capital Company principal activities
ADAfE
LA L B BEAEDZ REHER
a8 ERERERE ERTRARKRE At TEEE
19 Zhengzhou Huirui PRC, limited liability company RMB 125,000,000 96 Trading of purchased coal
Shangmo Company
Limited?

BHERBHERRAR FE FRETAH

@ Henan Zhongyuan PRC, sino-foreign equity joint
JiuAn Foundation &  venture
Investment Co., Ltd.*
AERRAREIERE HE FHEERE
BRAT

@) Beijing Kaisheng PRC, sino-foreign equity joint
Guanhua Investment  venture
Company Limited?
("Kaisheng")
IRIBBTERERR B PHaBELE
2R ([58])

# For identification purpose only
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ARE 96
125,000,0007T
RMB272,387,000 100

ARE 100
272,387,0007T

RMB80,000,000 91

ARE 91
80,000,0007T

* EREEER

BAKKE

Investment holding in the
PRC

RPBERERERR

Project investment,
asset management
and consultation of
investment in the PRC
RPBEREEARE BE
EERRERHA
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. ¥ BEKRE
Mining Furniture,
Buildings related fixtures,
and Plant machinery equipment
mining and and  and leasehold Motor  Construction

structures ~ machineries equipment  improvement vehicles in progress Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bl %8
BFR gt RER

RikzEn RERHER BERRE  HENERE A& ERIE @zt

TAL TAL TEL TEL TEL TAL ThL

Year ended 31 December 2016 EZ2=F-AE+-A=1-A

%:3:5

Opening net book value ENBEFE 277,770 7,202 70430 3192 - 14,348 312,942
Currency translation differences &HAEZE (15,219) (376) (3,520) (178) - (760) (20,053)
Additions AE 509 4 1,135 - - 1315 2963
Transfer £ - - 2,729 - = (2,729) =
Derecognition on disposal of &~ HE—FHBAFERIER

subsidiary - (337) - (20) - - (357)
Impairment loss HEEE (46,553) (1,159) (10,147) (540) - (2,369) (60,768)
Depreciation il (19312) (534) (17,015) (67) - - (36,928)
Closing net book value ERRAFE 197,195 4,800 43,6013 2,386 - 9,805 257,199
As at 31 December 2016 RZF-~E+-A=1-A
Cost FiA 495,161 26,095 197,217 10,581 22,946 14,863 766,863
Accumulated depreciation ZitE (124,269) (17,187) (108,524) (6,398) (22,643) - (279,021)
Accumulated impaiment loss ~ Z&FHEFE (173,697) (4,108) (45,080) (1,797) (303) (5,058) (230,083)
Net book value BEFE 197,195 4,800 43,613 2,386 - 9,805 257,799
Year ended 31 December 2017 EE=F-t£+-F=1-F

flz:3:54

Opening net book value FNREFE 197,195 4,800 43,613 2,386 - 9,805 257,799
Currengy translation differences &%HEEHE 14,269 379 27N 185 - 303 17928
Additions AE 214 334 1,489 374 97 2,882 5,390
Transfer g3 12,161 298 551 - - (13,010) -
Disposal e (1,283) 2 (1,755) = (94) - (3,004)
Impairment loss HESE (13,187) (69) (2,601) (46) = = (15,902)
Depreciation it (12,406) (147) (10,229) (203) 3) - (22,988)
Closing net book value FRERFE 197,003 5,504 33,840 2,6% - - 239,133
As at 31 December 2017 RZE-tE+-B=1-A
Cost A 542,792 28,683 206,903 11,770 23,804 - 813952
Accumulated depreciation 2iiE (145,240) (18,600) (121,869) (7,093) (23478) - (316,280)
Accumulated impaiment loss /B (200,549) (4,489) (51,194) (1,981) (326) - (258,539)
Net book value REFE 197,003 5,504 33,840 2,69 - = 239,133
Provision for impairment of approximately HK$15.9 He—T—+F+=-_A=+—HIHF
million (2016: approximately HK$60.8 million) has been B EREENRHEERNIBEES
made during the year ended 31 December 2017 for BUBMZEME - BERREBELR
those property, plant and equipment within the CGU of B B 1% 4915,900,0007 7.( — T — X
production and sale of coal (note 18). F 1 #960,800,000/8 7T )(HIT18)°
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

15.

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

As at 31 December 2017, property, plant and equipment
with carrying amount of approximately HK$21.0 million

(2016: Nil) have been pledged to secure other loans (note
30).

GOODWILL

The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as
follows:

15.

16.

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

E RNV E SN

R-E—+E+-_A=+—8 @A
{8 #921,000,000/ JL( = F — /N F ¢
EINME  BE REEDEE - AE
REMEZ(KIFE30)-

mE
ABRImFETH T -

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF ZE—RF
FET FHT

At beginning and end of the year RENRER
Gross carrying amount FRm4E 259,690 241,449
Accumulated impairment loss ZEHREEE (259,690) (241,449)
Net carrying amount REEE - -

Goodwill arising in prior years related to the acquisitions
of CIL and its subsidiaries for the CGU of production
and sale of coal and Huirui for the CGU of trading of
purchase coal, respectively. Goodwill arise from these
acquisitions have been fully impaired in the previous years
and the differences between the years solely represent
the realignment of exchange differences.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

17. MINING RIGHTS 17. RiERE
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF —E—RF
FERT FAET
Cost B AR
At 1 January n—H—H 659,940 705,635
Currency translation differences HiE i e 49,856 (45,695)
At 31 December N+=—B=+—H 709,796 659,940
Accumulated amortisation L ¥
At 1 January w—HA—H (117,791) (119,421)
Amortisation for the year F N H (3,205) (6,388)
Currency translation differences BEHHmEZE (9,030) 8,018
At 31 December BIEEE (130,026) (117,791)
Accumulated impairment loss ZiREEE
At 1 January R—H—H (223,996) (173,852)
Impairment loss for the year FRRBEEE (11,830) (64,274)
Currency translation differences BEBMmEES (17,409) 14,130
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H (253,235) (223,996)
Net carrying amount REFE 326,535 318,153
As of 31 December 2017, the Group has 5 (2016: 5) RZEBE—+F+—A=+—"H K&
coal mining rights in Dengfeng City, Zhengzhou, the EEPREEMNERTASE(ZE—X
PRC. Amongst these mining rights, one coal mine had F0IE)RREE ZEREEFR —
been fully impaired in 2015. The Group has not applied FARBEER - E—AFTERE &
to renew one of its mining rights (“Xiaohe Coal Mine R —IEEREEAE ([ /)N =78 |) B HR1%
No. 3”) since the expiry date, taken into account that REBARAFERH EREFEREK
its productivity is low and scale is small, full impairment B -BENH2"ZF—+F+_H4
amounting to approximately HK$7.8 million has been =t+t—HLEFEAEBERETIESR
provided by the Group for the year ended 31 December EBRE #97,800,000/8 L R —F—+
2017. Impairment loss was also recognised on the related F+_A=+—8" Tt/II=%E"
property, plant and equipment of Xiaohe Coal Mine No.3 HEYWE BMEARXREBEERD
amounting to approximately HK$13.0 million as at 31 13,000,000/ TR BB &8 ©

December 2017.
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17. MINING RIGHTS (continued)

The remaining 3 coal mining rights with the aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$326.5 million will
be expired from August 2018 to January 2023. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, with reference
to the legal opinion received by the management, there
should be no legal barrier for the Group to renew such
mining rights and that renewals can be obtained for
indefinite times period at minimal cost.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, provision for
impairment of mining rights amounting to approximately
HK$11.8 million (2016: approximately HK$64.3 million)
has been made by the Group’s management. Particulars
of impairment testing of mining rights are set out in note
18.

As at 31 December 2017, mining rights with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$326.5 million (equivalent
to approximately RMB271.9 million) (2016: approximately
HK$310.6 million (equivalent to approximately RMB278.2
million)) have been pledged to banks to secure the
Group’s bank loans as included in the asset-backed
financing (note 30).

- 130 Rosan Resources Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

17. HRIERE )

#4248 BRI {H 49326,500,0007 7T HY3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2017

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING
RIGHTS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT

As at 31 December 2017, the recoverable amount of
the CGU was determined using fair value less costs of
disposal, which was based on income approach using a
cash flow projection covering a detailed five-year budget
plan, followed by an extrapolation of discounted cash
flows by reference to the actual selling price and the
average market coal price with similar heating power in
the PRC with adjustments, where necessary, to reflect the
differences. In determining the recoverable amount of the
Group’s CGU, the directors of the Company have taken
account of the coal reserves of the mines after deducting
the cumulative amounts of coal already extracted and
sold. Accordingly, as the Group depletes its coal reserves,
the recoverable amount of its CGU will also decrease. In
the opinion of the directors, all coal mines owned by the
Group are collectively regard as a single CGU.

Taking into account that the low productivity and small
scale of Xiaohe Coal Mine No.3, full impairment losses
of approximately HK$7.8 million and approximately
HK$13.0 million were recognised on the mining rights
and related property, plant and equipment respectively
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

In addition, the recoverable amount of the CGU is less
than the carrying amount of the CGU. As a result, the
Group made further impairment loss of approximately
HK$2.9 million (2016: approximately HK$60.8 million)
and approximately HK$4.0 million (2016: approximately
HK$64.3 million) on the property, plant and equipment
and the mining rights respectively associated with this
CGU (notes 15 and 17 respectively). The impairment
loss is allocated according to the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and mining rights.

Fair value hierarchy

An independent valuation was performed by the valuer,
Asset Appraisal Limited (2016: Asset Appraisal Limited),
to determine the fair value less costs of disposal of the
CGU of production and sale of coal as at 31 December
2017. The impairment losses are included in consolidated
income statement. The fair value measurement of the
CGU is classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement.

%Aﬁ!ﬂ‘%iﬁ%w%

—F—tF+A=t—HULFE

18. ZKIBER YR  BERREHN

ZAIER S

R_E—tF+_A=+—H0 R
?E 5 iz 2 AW [El & FE 2 2 B AR ML
BEeHERKEREBRTHAMISE
T (if’ﬁﬂﬂl\ﬁﬂ%&bﬁ&%%ﬂ)'?ﬁ
RAFERLDEKAGTTEERKRA
/"Z( 1%%/@;%*15 $§2£¢TE n+
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EFLHEENEE REETAEEZ
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AN - 3R B E A BB AY A] Uk B 6 BB (K
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M - B R IR EEE — P IE
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— 7N 460,800, ooo;@ﬁ)&%’g
4,000,000/ w( —Z T — SN F: 4
64,300,000/ 7T )( 9 Bl & M 5E15 K%
17) REBEREYE  BE &L HE
MEBEENREES R

A ERE
HEMPHEEETEERERA
(ZE—RF: EF'DECL/QEH:FTEEEFH
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ﬂu”j’iﬁkzli BEBEEF ALZRE R
mrRAN-BHeELXBEVNAFEE
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18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING

RIGHTS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s CGU were valued as at 31 December 2017
by independent professionally qualified valuer, Asset
Appraisal Limited, who have among their staff Fellows
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and have recent
experience in the valuation of mining industries.

The Group’s finance department, which directly reports
to the chief financial officer, reviewed the valuations
performed by the independent valuer for financial
reporting purposes, which is determined based on the
cash flow projection prepared by the management.
The finance department holds discussions with the
independent valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results.

Management’s key assumptions were used in the
determination of recoverable amount of the CGU for the
year ended 31 December 2017. The following described
each key assumption on which management has based
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill.

Net profit margins — Management determined net profit
margin based on past experience in this market and its
expectations for market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate reflects specific risks
relating to the mining industry.

Forecast price of coal are based on the actual selling price
and average market coal price with similar heating power
in the PRC with adjustments, where necessary, to reflect
the differences.

Sales and production volumes — Estimated production
volumes are based on detailed life-of-mine plans and
take into account development plans for the mines
established by management as part of the long-term
planning process. Production volumes are dependent on
a number of variables, such as the recoverable quantities,
the production profile, the cost of the development of
the infrastructure necessary to extract the reserves, the
production costs, the contractual duration of mining
rights and the selling price of coal.

- 1 32 Rosan Resources Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

18.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

RIBRERYE - BB KRB
ZREREAED

REE2HERF

AEEZReELBEUR T —tF
TA=t—HABYEXSERM
BB EEENERREGR QRS
ThE ZAFBERBEBNEME
k8 BABREITENGEZAH

A RS BRI S - AR EZ
EFI(E & MM A AR ELIE ) T BB L
HEMETZHEERNEEERR
MRS RBRET ) BB EER
& M EER BB (HERMETTR R ©

EEHE-T—LET-A=+—8
\LEERSEEELY TRE ST
HER AR BEEERAEER
e FXHLE R BT A
S HHR SR BIMRA 2 51
FEBR-

FNREE-EEBZAEMSERR
HEmisg R RRETFMNEEX -

IR R — IR KR RRA BRI R 255
ER -

Bk R EREAER & B KRB
LIZAEE R T TSR B 1 - I 7E &
SEEL R ARMER -

HENES - AFTEEERFANE
WESmarE ZEEEEESRYR
B2 FF — &F > 1 il € B B R 3 R 5T
Z-EERORRZHEAERE w7
RRBE EERR FAREEMS
ERRMmHOREBERA  EEKRA K
BEENE VR EEREE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE-FT—+F+-—HA=+—HILFE

18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON MINING 18. ZKIBER YR  BERREHN
RIGHTS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND B AR ()
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Valuation processes of the Group (continued) AEBEZ(EERF(E)
The discount rate and growth rates on the estimated BeneBAlhEEER ZITRRK
selling price used to extrapolate in the cash flow BREITF

projection are shown as below:

2017 2016

i —ENF

Growth rate on the estimated selling fHst&EBRIE KX 2.6% 2.9%
price of coal Per annum per annum
g4 g4

Growth rate on sales and production HikHE MAEESE R R 3.3% 3.7%
volumes of coal Per annum per annum
B BF

Discount rate PrIR =& 13.93% 14.59%
Per annum Per annum

g5 G
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

19. Ett B EE

Computer software licence

EREHERE
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF ZERF
FTHEX FEBT
At 1 January R—A—H
Gross carrying amount FREAE 1,891 1,891
Accumulated amortisation E 5T 5 (1,891) (1,875)
Net carrying amount FREFE - 16
Net carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEmEFE - 16
Amortisation B 5H - (16)
Net carrying amount at 31 December R+—-HA=+—H2Z
FREFE - -
At 31 December R+-—A=+—8”
Gross carrying amount ARE 42 1E 1,891 1,891
Accumulated amortisation S (1,891) (1,891)
Net carrying amount FREEE - -

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNT  20.

REBENFzEEREN—B

DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE AN S|
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+F —ZE—RF
FET TFETT

Interest in associates — Share of net ~ RELZ AT 2 iz —FE(L

assets BEFE 101,938 97,775
Amount due to an associate* JEAST — R B R Rl FRIE* 99,589 92,593
* Amount due to an associate is unsecured, interest-free 3 FEAT — R R R ROE A B

RRRARBERAHET —@EAR
BE AUEAGAFBRRERD
S RIETRED -

and repayable after twelve months from the reporting
date and are therefore shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position as non-current.
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNT
DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

The particulars of the associates of the Group as at the
end of the reporting period were as follows:

mEMBERRWE

BE_F—+#+-A=1—HIFE
20. NIME R Bz Em R EN—E

BE QR FIA(2)
R|BEYPR KRB E QR ZFHB
LN

Place of
incorporation and Particulars of Percentage of voting  Attributable equity  Place of operation and
Name type of legal entity registered capital right held by the Group interests to the Group  principal activities
HRAIHER AR P
8 EEEREY EEREE SEAMM FEBECRARE  ITER
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Z3-tF ZBNE ZB8-tf ZE0E CB-tF CTE
(1) Beijing Zhaohua Hefu Investment  the PRC, limited RMB2,000,000  RMB2,000,000 25% 25% 25% 25%  Investment management,
Management Limited* (3t 5 liability company asset management and
KECERAERARAA) consultation of investment
("Zhaohua Hefu") in the PRC
IRKEREREERARLAA HE BRAELA Nt MRS 5% 5% 5% D%  RPENFREEE AEE
(Tk#4E]) 2,000000% 2,000,007 BRRERN
(2)  Beijing Shuozhan Zhongfu the PRC, limited RMB100,000,000 ~ RMB100,000,000 33% 33% 99% 99%  Project investment,
Investment Centre(Limited partnership investment management,
Partnership)* (L REE R assets management and
HERERDERAD) consultation service in the
(the "Partnership”) (Note) PRC
IRERRERETL (BRe TH ERa¥LE Nt ARE 3% 33% 99% 9% RPENFEERE REE
%) ([680E]) (W) 100,000,000 100,000,000 B BEERREARE
o For identification purpose only # e
Note: Bt 5
Pursuant to the partnership agreements entered into in May BERZE——FRARZZT—Z=FA

2012 and June 2012, the general partner of the Partnership
is Zhaohua Hefu (the “General Partner”), which is an
associate of the Group, owns 1% of the equity interest of the
Partnership. The General Partner is responsible for management
and control of the business of the Partnership through the
power to appoint two-third of the committee member of the
investment committee while Kaisheng, the limited partner of the
Partnership, possesses significant influence over the operating
and financial policies of the Partnership through the power to
appoint the remaining one-third of committee member of the
investment committee. As abovementioned, although the Group
owned 99% equity interest in the Partnership, the Group only
possess significant influence over the operating and financial
policies of the Partnership, therefore, the investment has been
classified as interests in associates in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at the reporting date.

RN EERE ABLEIEBRAEA
BREAE ([BEEBAl) HEAXE
ErHENRTHEEB L EI1%RE-
ELD%&/\/Aﬁﬂéf‘:E?Xé{%E@* Z
“HREMENEBEEERERESB LR
ZER ﬁﬂﬁ(A%ﬁ¥2ﬁ@é%A>
AAREZEREAZESH T =2 —KE
MWD -HEBLEZCERMBEBKRE
EERFEN - WMEMll - BEAEEE
EABLEOWRE ~EEEYAED

EVCERMBEBRRBEEATE N )
I I ERRE BN GRE B RA
BEARBENR 2 -
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNT  20. RE¢& AR 2R R EN—H
DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE (continued) B NTFIE (&)
The following illustrates the summarised financial UTAREBEANEEAR(BEE
information of the Group’s material associate, the EIVHBERESE: R ES
Partnership, extracted from its management accounts HEIRE (BEEARUBRERNEBIK
which have been adjusted to ensure consistency in N7 @B —2N) o
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

2017 2016
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E—+F —E—REF
FET FET
As at 31 December Rt+t=-—A=+—H
Non-current assets ERBEE 109,016 102,611
Current liabilities mEaE (8,702) (5,827)
Year ended 31 December BE+-A=+—HLFE
Revenue Wz _ B
Loss for the year FREE (2,341) (2,380)
Total comprehensive loss for the year F N2 HEE 1B (3.633) (5,544)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interests in

VA Bt 60 B 75 B R B AR B B IS ¥R R
FEER N 2 R Rl s AR (E AV &Y

the associates recognised in the consolidated financial BEA0T :
statements:
2017 2016
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E—+F T —RF
FET TETT
Net assets of the associate B NRl 2 FEE 100,314 96,784
Group’s interest in the associate REFRBE NG 2R 99% 99%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEBRBE QR 2D 2R
interest in the associate (=] 99,310 95,816
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE-FT—+F+-—HA=+—HILFE

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND AMOUNT  20. Rt ARz R R EN—

21.

DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE (continued) Bhes N T RIE (&)
The summarised financial information of Zhaohua Hefu, BAKEAET(AXNER T8 EH
which is an immaterial associate of the Group is set out ENRZHBERBREESNT
below:
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tfF —E—REF
FHET FHTT
Year ended 31 December BE+t-A=+—BLHFE
The Group’s share of profit for the year 7%= & f& 15 & A% Tl 504 319

The Group's share of comprehensive AEBEEEFRNEME

Income for the year WA 500 311
INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 21. A—EeEE kR

2017 2016

HKS$'000 HK$'000

—EB—tF BT

FET FHETT

Share of net assets EHEEFE 6,248 5,779
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21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

The particulars of the joint venture of the Group as at 31
December 2017 were set out as below:

21. A— g8 bE R &)

R-ZE—tF+-_A=1+—8 £&K
BeEhXcFBWT

28

Percentage
of issued Place of
Particulars capital held operation

of registered by the and principal
capital Group activities
ARBAH

ERTREA KEBER
aMEARFR BAt FEXH

Place of
incorporation and
Name type of legal entity
B 3L B
a8 EEERER
Henan Chalco Li Chuang Resources Company  PRC, other limited
Limited* (“Henan Chalco”) (Note) liability company
AETRVABEARAR (DTEYE]) B EMEREEAF
(BEE)
# For identification purpose only

Note: Although the Group owned 51% equity interest in Henan
Chalco, the Group and the other shareholder of Henan
Chalco have joint control over Henan Chalco and none of
the participating parties have unilateral control over
the economic activity pursuant to the joint venture
agreement entered into in July 2012. Therefore, the
Group classified the investment in Henan Chalco as
a joint venture as at the reporting date.
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21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 21. R—EEELEZER(E)

Set out below is the summarised financial information for AR AR (AR EARR) 2 B 5 &
Henan Chalco which was accounted for using the equity BT
method:
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—-+tF e SN
FTHET FETT
As at 31 December 5@+;H =t+—8H
Current assets MBEE 12,251 11,943
Current liabilities mEaE _ 612)

Included in the above amounts are: E#i £ 5 E:

Cash and cash equivalents He kRS EEIER 8,137 7,503
Year ended 31 December BE+-HA=+t—-BLEE

Revenue Wz - 1,298
Profit/(loss) for the year FrmAl, (BE) 61 (265)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EWA (E8) L% 61 (265)

Included in the above amounts are: E#li & IE:

Depreciation e - 2
Interest income B U A 74 103
Income tax expense FRE B - )
There were no contingent liability or other commitments NEFBWEGSHE S DEES(FA K
relating the Group’s interest in its joint venture. SRBESE M AE -
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21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 21. R—EEELEZER(E)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial A _E#Eall /9B 75 B R ERAR A BT TS Rk
information to the carrying amount of the interest in the FrERR—HeabENERREE
joint venture recognised in the consolidated financial RUSERINT -
statements:
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF —E—RF
FTHET FET
Net assets of the joint venture BREDHEEETH 12,251 11,331
Group's interest in the joint venture  ANEBRAELZSDE L 51% 51%
Carrying amount of the Group's AREBPRALDE Y X
interest in the joint venture Z BREE 6,248 5,779

22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 22. (EtHESREE

2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF —E—RF
FTET FET
Non-current FERE
Unlisted equity securities I EMRAEFH 710 660
As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the unlisted equity RZE—+ttR_ZE—XRF+=A
investments were stated at cost less any identified =+ — B ZEELMEFENNR
impairment because the range of reasonable fair value EEME#ZFRERdE BEEARAF
estimates was so significant that the directors of the BEEBEGHMNEERARN KARAEE
Company are of the opinion that their fair values cannot RAEENFEELA]SETE-
be measured reliably.
23. INVENTORIES 23. &
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF —E-REF
FTHET FAT
Coal s 12,013 1,570
Spare parts and consumables THREM 2,043 2,034
14,056 3,604
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24. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 24. BRI R EE

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E—+t & —TE—RF

FExT FET

Accounts receivable & Ui BR X 257,700 207,945
Bills receivable JE Ui = 4% - 2,553
257,700 210,498

Less: Provision for impairment VB R E B E (36,360) (33,806)
221,340 176,692

During the prior and the current years, the Group
discounted part of its trade debtors with full recourse
to a financial institution. In the event of default by
the debtors, the Group is obliged to pay the financial
institution the amount in default. Interest is charged
at a range from 3.2% to 4.4% (2016: 2.9% to 4.4%)
per annum on the proceeds received from the financial
institution until the day the debtors pay. The Group is
therefore exposed to the risks of credit losses and late
payment in respect of the discounted debts.

The discounting transactions do not meet the
requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial
assets as the Group retains substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership of the discounted trade debts.
At 31 December 2017, trade debtors of approximately
HK$195.7 million (2016: HK$131.2 million) continue
to be recognised in the Group’'s consolidated financial
statements even though they have been legally
transferred to the financial institution. The proceeds of
the discounting transactions are included in borrowings
as asset-backed financing (note 30) until the trade debts
are collected or the Group settles any losses suffered by
the financial institution. At 31 December 2017, the asset-
backed financial liability amounted to approximately
HK$167.9 million (2016: approximately HK$138.3
million). The carrying amount of the transferred assets
and their associated liabilities approximates their fair
values in both 2017 and 2016.

Because the trade debts have been transferred to the
financial institution legally, the Group did not have the
authority to determine the disposition of the trade debts.

RAFERBEFE AEEBHEA
BERENEWERIDAE T —XK
TREE MEBARY A&EEA
EBRNZERMEBEINENSTE -F
EHZem#E ke FIBEN T
FF32%E44%(ZF—"F:12.9%
BLA%)WE BEEEBAERE
e Bt REBFEBIREFEER
EEBX LA R

AR G TFEB B LT ERFE395
RIIBEReEMEENRTE  RAEAR
SEREBEMRBEWERERNBRI S
BEkOHF - R_FE—+tF+=A
=+—H ' EUYERFK#I195,700,000/%
7T(=Z — 7<% : 131,200,000 7T )
BENANEBREPEREFER
BEELEZLIEEETZSREE-
MR ZGMERIBEREEFRME
(MIEE30) st ABE  ERIEREERE
WEAEBEEZEBEES N
TEXABLt - R-_T—tF+_-A
S+t R BEXK2RBEARL
167,900,000 t( Z T — /N F : 4
138,300,000 L) R=ZE—tF K
—E-RF O FEEEEREBERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

24. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(continued)

The Group’s sales are billed to customers according to
the terms of the relevant agreements. Normally, credit
periods ranging from 30 to 180 days (2016: 30 to 180
days) are allowed to certain customers. The ageing
analysis of the accounts receivable of the Group, net of
provision for impairment, based on the invoice dates is as

24. EWERA R EE (&)

rEBEREEBRRERAZTFAL
HERZ -METEFPETZEESN
—RNF30BE180H (T — 74 :
30BE180H ) - MNBERBH A& E
ZRERWEBRR (IR ERE)REEH
HAGtE 2 BRI D ATAA T -

follows:
2017 2016
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF —E—RF
FExT FAET
0 — 90 days 0£90H 88,074 165,226
91 - 180 days 912 180H 109,332 4,360
181 — 365 days 1812365H - 3,995
Over 365 days B:E365H 23,934 558
221,340 174,139

Ageing analysis of the Group’s accounts receivable net of
provision for impairment, is as follows:

AR Bz RYIRR(FOBRRERE) 2
RRERDITEAT

2017 2016

HKS$'000 HK$'000

—E—+tF —E—RF

FET TET

Neither past due nor impaired KA E B KRR E 195,221 169,586

Past due for less than 3 months BEADHR=MEA 2,184 3,995
Past due for more than 3 months B HEA =& H LA BB DRISE A

but less than 6 months - 558

Past due for more than 6 months BEANE AL EBDOR—F

but less than 1 year 19,353 =

Past due for more than 1 year BH—F A E 4,582 -

221,340 174,139
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 BHEZE_—FT—+F+_-_A=+—HIFE
24. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 24. BRI R ERE (&)
(continued)
Movements in the allowance for impairment of accounts JEWER FOR (BRSNS ¢
receivable are as follows:
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF ZE—RF
FET FAT
At 1 January n—H—H 33,806 15,260
Impairment loss on accounts receivable & U 8f 7%~ 5l & &5 18 - 20,448
Currency translation differences BER¥mEERE 2,554 (1,902)
At 31 December N+—-_A=+—H 36,360 33,806

At each reporting date, the Group reviews accounts
receivable for evidence of impairment on an individual
and collective bases. As at 31 December 2017, the
Group determined accounts receivable of approximately
HK$36.4 million as individually impaired (2016:
approximately HK$33.8 million). No impairment loss has
been recognised in the consolidated income statement
during the year (2016: impairment loss of approximately
HK$20.4 million).

Accounts receivable that were neither past due nor
impaired related to customers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired
related to customers that had been the Group’s
customers for more than 1 year and had a good track
record of credit with the Group with no history of default
in the past. Based on past credit history, management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered to be fully recoverable. The Group did not
hold any collateral in respect of accounts receivable past
due but not impaired.

RERE B NEBIZRER RER
EEREEWERFE D IR R E D
Z-R_ZE—+tF+-_A=+—8"
N6 B 7 E R BB E 2 B R KA
36,400,000 (= & — <X F: 4
33,800,000/ 7T ) - F N IR EE 18

RIFE R RER(ZZE—XNF 7
{EE1E4920,400,0007& 7T )
R H B AR E 2 e R TR T R

R BEP A/ -

E B BB RRE 2 RURFOS M AR
SEEFPHEEF BAKEERHFHE
RiEREs HREIEERESLZ
EF -REBEERCE HENMER
BRUEBZHLESAEE BHERITK
BRBrAI2EYE R EREER
PREZ AR E L AR ER - AR
BARBZEC @HERRE 2 BUER
A (R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

25. FENRIE - RERE BB

RECEIVABLES yi=|
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
— —TRE
FET FHETT
Prepayments TE FRIAE 5,078 1,300
Deposits BftiRE 334,933 260,230
Other receivables H b e WK IR 89,084 138,365
429,095 399,895
Provision for impairment VERIEE L] (49,806) (46,479)
379,289 353,416

The balances of deposits included approximately
HK$282.1 million (2016: approximately HK$260.2
million) paid to Henan Jiatuo Coal Trading Company
Limited* (r] /A 32 PR B ok B 85 A BR /A &), the major supplier
under the “trading of purchased coal” operation (the
“Major Supplier”), as deposits for purchase of trading
coal in the subsequent period. Since no transaction
with the Major Supplier from November 2017 as the
Group sourced the coal supplies from other suppliers
and accordingly, the deposits were fully refunded to the
Group subsequent to the reporting date in March 2018.

As at 31 December 2017, the remaining balances of
deposits mainly comprise of approximately HK$52.5
million (2016: nil) cash advanced to Henan Yulian Energy
Group Company Limited* (] 58 7% B A2 R &= B B PR A 7))
("Yulian”) for potential purchasing coal in subsequent
period. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
Yulian is an independent third party. The transaction has
not been carried out eventually, and the balance was fully
refunded to the Group subsequently.

W For identification purpose only
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. ANFIE - e R HEMEWR

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is as follows:

1 (4)
TSR 2 % B A R OB
BEEBNT :

2017 2016

HKS$'000 HK$'000

B+ —E—RF

FHET FH&T

At 1 January wW—H—H 46,479 50,639
Impairment loss B E 1R 455 2,337
Disposal of a subsidiary HE B AT - (1,010)
Reversal of impairment loss B e EEE - (2,888)
Currency translation differences PE W =% 2,872 (2,599)
At 31 December R+=—HF=+—H 49,806 46,479

At each reporting date, the Group reviews prepayments,
deposits and other receivables for evidence of impairment
on an individual and collective bases. As at 31 December
2017, due to the significant financial difficulties of
several counterparties, the Group determined deposits
and other receivables of approximately HK$49.8 million
as individually impaired (2016: approximately HK$46.5
million). Impairment loss of approximately HK$0.5
million (2016: approximately HK$2.3 million) has been
recognised in the consolidated income statement during
the year. In the opinion of the directors, the remaining
balance not impaired related to customers which have no
history of default and creditworthy, therefore they believe
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances and considered these balances are to be
fully recoverable.

REREBH AEEIZRER & &g
EERNEMNRE R hEMEY
HEBERAHBRARETR - R_T—t
F+-_A=+—8 HREEHFH
35 BR 5B B 7S TR K - N R (B e {1 B
BMEZESREMEKKELY
49,800,000/ 7t — & — /N F : 4
46,500,000/ 70) ° FAEFE 4R & W
K FER#500,0008 L (= F —/~F -
492,300,000 7)) 2 RBEFE-EX
RE  RBEKRES R W EHLRFESL
BEEAENEF ALESHEES
A ZEHRBIELHRERE TRA
ZEpREa] TR RE -

mewnepsrad 0EFE 145




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS ANS OTHER CASH
FLOW INFORMATION

(a)

(b)

Pledged bank deposits

The effective interest rates of the pledged bank
deposits are at 3.95% (2016: 4.18%) per annum.
As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, pledged bank
deposits are used to secured bills payables of the
Group as at 31 December 2017 (note 27).

Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 December 2017, included in cash and cash
equivalents of the Group is approximately HK$150.3
million (2016: approximately HK$176.1 million) of
bank balances denominated in RMB placed with the
banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible
currency; however, under the PRC’'s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through the banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business in
the PRC.
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26. EIEHRTER REkBES
SEEEREMBEEREER

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS ANS OTHER CASH
FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities from financing

activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
major liabilities from financing activities, including

both cash and non-cash changes.

mEMBERRWE

BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE

26. CIEHRTER RERBEE

FEERB #)
(0 BMETBRELHAEYE
TREMAEEBEERHMESE

MEIBEAEES BEASRE
KRS REBZHANED -

Loans from
Mr. Bao, a Loans from
substantial a family member
Bank and Loans from  shareholder of of
other loans a director the Company Mr. Bao
(Note 30) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28)
EAREERR
BRERMHN BREERE
BROREMER EZRMEMNER EX RUENER
(H&E30) (M&E28) (MzF28) (MzE28)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THR THx T
At 1 January 2017 W-Z—t+F—HA—-H 473,221 7,951 = 6,835
Changes from financing BEETHELNE
activities:
New bank loans HERITER 868,290 = = =
Repayments of bank loans BERTER (770,295) = = =
Proceeds from other loan EERETE 34,451 = = =
Repayments of other loan BRAMER (115) - - -
Proceeds from loans of a —ZESERABHE
director - 8,000 - -
Proceeds from loans of Mr. Bao 844 B2 SR = - 24,571 -
Advance from a family BRETRBRENZH
member of Mr. Bao - - - 208
Repayments to a family BEALETRBIE
member of Mr. Bao - - - (450)
Total changes from financing ~ R&FBEL LS EH
activities 132,331 8,000 24,577 (242)
Exchange adjustments ERFE 41,348 9% 473 506
At 31 December 2017 BR-B-t&
+ZA=+-H 646,900 16,047 25,050 7,099
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BE—ZF

27. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—tF+-A=1—HILFE

27. ERRARAKREE

2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E—+tF TR

FHET FAT

Accounts payable FETBR K 10,665 31,111
Bills payable B EE 807,198 701,658
817,863 732,769

The bills payable were mainly issued to the Major Supplier

for the “trading of purchased coal”

operation (note 25).

The Group was granted by its certain suppliers with credit
periods normally ranging from 30 to 90 days (2016: 30
to 90 days). The ageing analysis of accounts payables of
the Group presented based on the invoice dates was as

BNRBEEERTBAKKES | FHK
A= 2 M E R (FfFE25)-

ATHERRAERR T KN T30
Z90H(=Z—/~%F : 30890H ) 2 &
RE - B EHMAE 2 ASEEER
BRARZERROITZ250T ¢

follows:
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+t & TE—RF
FHExT FET
0 — 90 days 0%290H 1,995 3,987
91 — 180 days 91H £180H 1,162 277
181 — 365 days 181H 2£365H 145 342
Over 365 days H#B3B365H 7.363 26,505
10,665 31,111

As at 31 December 2017, bills payable of approximately
HK$694.9 million (2016: approximately HK$597.3
million) were secured by the pledged bank deposits of the
Group (note 26 (a)).

As at 31 December 2017, bills payable of approximately
HK$164.8 million (2016: approximately HK$154.6
million) were guaranteed by Henan Zhongfu Industrial
Company Limited* (A HRZEXZRMHDBR AR or
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Zhongfu
Group”), the major customer (the “Major Customer”),
and approximately HK$72.0 million (2016: HK$67.0
million) were jointly guaranteed by Mr. Bao, the spouse of
Mr. Bao and the Major Customer.

W For identification purpose only
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—F—tF+A=t—HULFE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS B ENSERESE R
2017 2016

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E—+F —ZE—RF

FET FATT

Accruals et & H 198,757 195,614
Other payables H {th A~ FRIB 257,165 216,504
Receipts in advance Sl & ] 43,253 22,782
499,175 434,900

The balances of other payables as of 31 December 2017
included the followings:—

(a)

(b)

(@

(d)

Loans amounting to approximately HK$16.0
million (2016: approximately HK$8.0 million) were
advanced from a shareholder of the Company as of
the date of these consolidated financial statements,
who was also a director of the Company till 8
February 2018;

Loans amounting to approximately HK$7.1 million
(2016: approximately HK$6.8 million) were
advanced from a family member of Mr. Bao;

Loans amounting to approximately HK$25.0 million
(2016: Nil) were advanced from Mr. Bao; and

The remaning balances of approximately HK$209.1
million (2016: approximately HK$201.7 million)
mainly comprises accrued coal mines related
removal and relocation expenses, payables to
suppliers for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment in the prior years, cash advanced from
Gongyi Hotel Company Limited* (EE M E AR A
A]) ("Gongyi") and certain miscellaneous expenses
payables. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, Gongyi is an independent third party.

These balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand or due for repayment within one year.

#

For identification purpose only

(a)

(@)

(d)
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29.

30.

PROVISION FOR RECLAMATION

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

29. AEERAEE

OBLIGATIONS
2017 2016
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E2—+tF —ET—RF
FExT TFETT
At 1 January w—H—H 90,222 93,905
Provision made during the year FNEE 2,345 5,884
Utilisation during the year FERNEH - (3,374)
Currency translation differences St E g 6,913 (6,193)
At 31 December R+=—_B=+—H 99,480 90,222

Provision for land restoration, environmental restoration
and safety costs pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations
and current mining activities are determined by
management based on their best estimates. However,
the estimate of the associated costs may be subject to
change in the near term in view of the effect of land and
the environment from current mining activities becomes
apparent in future periods. The amounts provided in
relation to restoration and safety costs are reviewed
regularly based upon the facts and circumstances
available at the time and the provisions are updated
accordingly.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS

AR 448 B R B AR 71 N 3R B SR AR S A% P
EZTHER REERMZEMAN
ZREHEEEESEGEMER -
A ERIRE 2 RBEHBE LK
REFEZREENAKRBMEELFZH
B HEERAZGRERAANSEH
B FRERRZERAZEES
BIEERAMANEE REREHETR
- AR eI T R

30. RITREMER

2017 2016
HKS$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF —E—RF
FHET FAT
Current T ED

Bank loans (Note (a)) IRITE K (MaE@)) 610,998 473,221
Other loans (Note (b)) HaE R (kD)) 2,521 -
613,519 473,221

Non-current FEREB
Other loans (Note (b)) HE K (M 3EDb)) 33,381 -
646,900 473,221
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30. BANK AND OTHER LOANS (continued) 30. RITRHEMER(E)
Notes: st -
(a) (a)
2017 2016
—ZE—tf& —T-RE
Annual Annual
effective effective
contractual contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
ECEE) BREH
FR= ERE
(%) ) THER (%) E) FAET
Secured PRl 3.20% - 4.35% on demand 119,895  2.90% - 9.00% on demand 138,301
BREX BEREX
Secured HHER 4.35% -5.61% 2018 108,067  4.84%-7.31% 2017 100,476
Unsecured Eidiid 4.79% - 10.68% on demand 204,126 4.79% on demand 22,328
BREX BEREX
Unsecured ER 4.79% - 13.64% 2018 178,910 4.79% - 13.10% 2017 212,116
610,998 473,221
I

As at 31 December 2017, bank loans of approximately
HK$167.9 million (2016: approximately HK$138.3 million)
were secured by certain accounts receivable (note 24) and
certain mining rights of the Group (note 17). A bank loan
of approximately HK$60.1 million (2016: bank loans of
approximately HK$100.5 million) was secured by a mining right
of the Group (note 17) (2016: secured by certain mining rights).

As at 31 December 2017, bank loans of approximately
HK$257.0 million (2016: approximately HK$356.0 million) were
guaranteed by the Major Customer.

As at 31 December 2017, bank loans of approximately HK$96.1
million were jointly guaranteed by Mr. Bao directly/indirectly and
the Major Customer (2016: approximately HK$89.3 million were
jointly/solely guaranteed by Mr. Bao, the Major Customer and/or
independent third parties).

As at 31 December 2017, bank loans of approximately
HK$150.0 million (2016: approximately HK$27.9 million) were
jointly guaranteed by Mr. Bao, the spouse of Mr. Bao and the
Major Customer.

R—_ZTE—+ttF+_A=+—"8"'4%4
167,900,000 L (=T — XNF: 4
138,300,000 L) 2 RITE R U AR E
BzHTRKER(MEF24) & TR
ﬁ%@é(Mﬁfwﬂ”&%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%%ﬁ’v
60,100,000/ 7C (= — A~ F  RITE K
49100,500, 000/371:) VAZN 62 (B SR A HE 4
(HEE17) (ZT—RF UE THRBEELR
) e

R-_ZE—+E+-_A=+—H8 HITE&
FX4257,000,0008 c (Z T — N F: 4
356,000,000/ L) HEER P &R -

R-_E—+tHFE+_A=+—8 #RI7TE
3% 4996,100,000% 7T Fy & ﬁiﬁ%/&ﬁ
BEREBREFHERER(ZE—XRF 4
89,300,000/ TTHBLELE TEEF K/
RBIFE=FHERBEER) -

R-BE—+tF+-_A=+—H RKITE
F49150,000,0008 c ( ZFE—NF: 4
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30. BANK AND OTHER LOANS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b) On 6 July 2017, the Group entered into an agreement
with a financing company, an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group has agreed to transfer the
ownership of certain mining machinery and equipment
(the “Machinery and Equipment”) to the financing
company as disclosed in note 15, at a consideration of
RMB30.0 million (equivalent to HK$34.5 million) and lease
back the Machinery and Equipment for a period of 3 years
subject to the terms and conditions of the agreement. The
transaction was completed in July 2017.

Upon discharging all the Group’s obligations under
the agreement, the financing company will return the
ownership of the Machinery and Equipment to the Group
for a nominal amount of RMB1. Despite the agreement
involves a legal form of a lease, the Group accounted for
the agreement as collateralised loan according with the
actual substance of such agreement.

31. DEFERRED TAX

As at 31 December 2017, all tax losses and deductible
temporary differences of the Group have no expiry
dates under the current tax legislation except for the
tax losses amounting to approximately HK$448.6
million (equivalent to approximately RMB373.6 million)
(2016: approximately HK$407.3 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB364.8 million)) incurred by three
subsidiaries in the PRC, which will expire after 5 years
from the year in which the losses were incurred. The
Group has taxable losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$1.3 million (2016: approximately
HK$1.6 million). The unused tax losses are subject to the
approval by the respective local tax authorities. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and the unpredictability of
future profits.
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(AMIEE1SFT#ER) - REAARK
30,000,000t (48 & 734,500,000
PETT) - N0 AH Bl B8 K 3% 4E = A EA R
(ZPRFZ 5 IR R IR (R 1) © 3%
RHGVNZE—tFELATK-

EAKERZBZR NAEEKE
1718 R E AR IAAREITTH
HERTBERSLREBOMERER
E%ZK%O@%EZWJE%?@F&%EE
i 1E|$‘§I$EH§EZT5%*
BEERZBRESBERERA

31. IR B

R-ZE—+&E+_A=+—0" 1BE
WMEHBIED REBAAEHIEES
MailREREZEWER RS =
ZHBENBRARAELEN S BY
448,600,000 L(HEE RO AR
373,600,000t ( =& — N F: 4
407,300,000 T(HEE RO AR K
364,800,0007T ) W B IE BT B BR A1 - H
BREREEFERTAFTEE M-
XEBRES Fiﬁzﬁﬁé)&ﬂé #
1,300,000/ 7T T —XNF: 8
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31. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

mEMBERRWE

BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE

31. EEBIE(E)

Movement in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the FRNELEHRBEE (BE)2E8H0M

year is as follows:

S

Amortisation

allowance
on mining
rights for
tax purpose
Impairments in excess
of mining of related
rights and amortisation
property, for
plant and accounting
equipment purpose Total
MBI AR
= KB &R
BRI BERE
kyE.- (BBREs
B E R ARmME/M
RERE HEREH) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FABT FHET
At 1 January 2016 R-ZZT—XF¥—H—H (23,752) 27,278 3,526
(Credited)/debited to profit (&&) &L Al
or loss (note 9) (Kt#z9) (6,140) 2,688 (3,452)
Exchange difference PE & =58 1,813 (1,887) (74)
At 31 December 2016 and 1 R —Z—~FE+ = A
January 2017 =+—BEkZZT—+
F—H—H (28,079) 28,079 -
(Credited)/debited to profit or (& &2) /& AER
loss (note 9) (K15%9) (1,640) 1,640 =
Exchange difference bE W = %8 (2,189) 2,189 =
At 31 December 2017 R-ZB—t&+=A
=+—H (31,908) 31,908 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017

31.

32.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, deferred tax liabilities
amounted to approximately HK$3.6 million (2016:
approximately HK$3.8 million) in respect of the aggregate
amount of temporary differences of approximately
HK$36 million (2016: approximately HK$38 million)
associated with the undistributed earnings of certain of
the Group’s subsidiaries have not been recognised. No
deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in respect of
the differences because it is considered that the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC will not pay any dividend to their
overseas holding companies in the foreseeable future
and the Group is in a position to control the dividend
policies of these subsidiaries and it is probable that such
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

31. IELEBIE (&)

RZE—+t&F+_A=+—H ' &&
BETHBARRDEEF 2 B
=R @5 493,600,000 T ( ZF—<
F : #93,800,0008 7T ) MHEE 2 A&
B IE JE B 18 & (& £ 4936,000,0007 7T
(—Z— /<4 : 4938,000,0007 7T ) &
BABR AREZERRELEHREE
BETYRRASEENF B 2 BRI
BAERA] B RN E REIMER A A
SAHEMKEE - BAREBEAEHIZSE
MEBARZBRBBEK  BEZEERE%K
TR R 2 A REE o

SHARE CAPITAL - %S
2017 2016
—E-t& —TRF
Number Number
of shares HK$'000 of shares HK$'000
RO#E TERT RinE&E THT
Authorised: EE:
At 1 January 2016, 31 RZZ-"¥—-A—8-
December 2016, 1 January —E—A~F+=A
2017 and 31 December =+-R-Z%—+tF
2017, ordinary shares of —R-BAk=ZF—t
HK$0.1 each F+-A=+-H8'&
BREBIETZE®
& 30,000,000 3,000,000 30,000,000 3,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2016, 31 RZZ-"¥—-A—8:
December 2016, 1 January —E—ARF+=A
2017 and 31 December 2017 =+—H ZZ—+F
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 —A-BEZ=ZT—1
each f+-R=t-H'8§
REBENBT 2 LR
& 712,674 71,267 712,674 71,267

There was no movement in the Company’s share capital
for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Eligible participants (“Participants”)
of the share option scheme include any employee of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including any
director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries). The
shareholders of the Company approved the termination
of the share option scheme adopted on 20 October
2004 (the “Old Scheme”) and adoption of the new share
option scheme (the “New Scheme”) in place of the Old
Scheme at the annual general meeting on 27 May 2014.
The New Scheme became effective on 27 May 2014 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for ten years from that date until 26 May 2024.

Under the New Scheme, the board of directors of the
Company may at its discretion grant options to the
Participants to subscribe for shares provided that the total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the New Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the
adoption date. The maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue
from time to time.

Details of the said termination of the Old Scheme and
adoption of the New Scheme were also set out in the
Company'’s circular dated 24 April 2014.

No share options were granted during the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016. As at 31 December 2017 and
2016, the Company had no share options outstanding
under the New Scheme.

mEMBERRWE

BE—F—+F+_A=1+—HILFZE

33.

RS E
RABHEITHEREF AL TEHA
SEEBKINEMEMZAEKRRHE
EEHEARE - BRENEZEER
2HE([28E )BREAQRKEME
B AR ZEREE(BEARQF
KETMHBRARZESR) - N _F
—NERA-t++HHZBRRBFERS
O RREHER IR —ETNFE+ A
T ERMERETEI(ERTE])
W ER 4N T AR A A AT 21 ([ # T 21 ]) LARR
REFE - Ft8R—_=—WFERA
ZHEBHAER BIEWEE S MAE
Al BRI HRZABERE S —NF
FAZt+NBLETFNBER-

BIEFE AR EEe R WIER
HEERRE T2 EE ARERG - R
BT E R AR AT R E b BB AR A AT
2 TR ERE R BT R
T BT 2RO BERTBBBARARN
HWBHBEEITRMNDZ210% - ATTH
FTAREF T8 AR R I E i
MEHEET BB R BB R 1TE 2 BB AR
BITZROBE THBBAARE
REEITRH Z30% °

g EE B RIRAF T B 2 1B
AZt+mBz@EHK-

HE_Z—+tFR-_ZF—XF+=A
Zt+—HIEFE TEBREER
HoRZE—+FRZT—RF+=
B=+—H Xx&EREFTE L E
RITIEHEARHE
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34. DEFICIT IN RESERVES
(@) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium account of the Group includes
the premium arising from issue of shares of
the Company at a premium.

Capital redemption reserve arose from the
purchase of the Company’s share for cancellation
and represents a transfer from the Company’s
retained profits equivalent to the nominal value
of the shares purchased for cancellation.

Contributed surplus of the Group arose as
a result of (i) the Group reorganisation in
1997 and represents the difference between
the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued under the reorganisation scheme and
the nominal value of the aggregate share
capital of the subsidiaries then acquired;
(ii) the Group reorganisation in 2007 and
represents the reduction of capital of HK$64.1
million pursuant to a special resolution passed
on 1 November 2007; and (iii) the Group
reorganisation in 2012 and represents the
reduction of capital of HK$641.4 million
pursuant to a special resolution.

The capital reserve arose from the capitalisation
of retained profits of a PRC subsidiary.

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations,
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required, at
the discretion of their directors, to appropriate
a certain percentage of their profit after tax,
if any, to the statutory reserve fund for the
future development and capital expenditure on
staff welfare facilities purposes.

- 156  Rosan Resources Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

34. & E A
AEE
REBRAREE RBEFEE R
ERASFHNGANBRE 2

(a)

B

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

FEBHENZH-

AR B B BT
H 2w B ARNEEZ I
s (BB

F B @ A 2 B A A 1B 5T 8
MEL 2 EARNBE T
BREBARAZRE R
A SRR E RN BRI EEH
Z B 2 EfE

REBZHABBTIRR
IR —NNLtFETZE
BEH JHEREEEESR
FFEIARRR 2 BEBITRMD
AEEAKENBRRZ
AR EZ Z5 ()R
—EELFETCEES
e HERE-_ZZLHF
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z

34. DEFICIT IN RESERVES (continued)

(@) Group (continued)

34. fF#E#E)
(a) Z&&EM(#)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Pursuant to regulations in the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Group were required to
make a transfer of production maintenance
fee and safety fund to other reserve based on
fixed amounts per tonne of raw coal mined
(net of usage). According to the relevant
regulations, production maintenance fee,
safety fund and other expense of similar
nature are required to be charged to cost
of production and credited to reserve.
Accordingly, the related funds are appropriated
from retained profits.

The available-for-sale investment revaluation
reserve (which grouped as other reserve in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity)
represents accumulated gains and losses
arising on the revaluation of available-for-sale
investments of an associate that have been
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Deposit of approximately HK$20.0 million was
received before the end of the reporting period
from Retop International Investment Limited,
an entity indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Bao,
for the subscription of ordinary shares of the
Company, which was completed on 3 January
2018 (Note 40 (a)(i)). Substantive conditions
including approval from shareholders of the
Company were satisfied before the end of the
reporting period and hence the amount was
recognised in equity and will be transferred to
“share capital” and “share premium” when the
relevant shares are issued.

(iv) RIEFBUER  AREET
M8~ RIZARE RBRRK
T uEEE e BRI E
B #EEREBERZE
EcHEBREHMEHE R
HERD - AR E %
EESREMBANUEE 2
ERTALERARHE
W - MIEBREBEN D e

EfB-HiL- @A
Eﬁﬁmxmﬂ{/ﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁﬂ

(vi) A EREEERFE(E
HARDEBHRTOBR
HipfEm) EREGBERHE
b 2 T U A T BB B — e Bk
BB ZAHBEREM
B RET W K B8 o

(vii) 1% & 1 ’]20 000,0005 7T J3
Eéi HRAI M RBEAD
J‘]x(ﬁé_iﬁ NEFE—
HEEIF—EE)Z)?@%TEF%%&
EERAR(BEEMESR
EMAMNER)BEN(H
40(a)(i)) e BHE MG (BIE
ANRA BRI E ) B R RS
AR AR - B L5 IEBA
TR BB
ﬂi%%)\f%ﬁjﬂﬂﬂﬁ
1D (E Jo
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34. DEFICIT IN RESERVES (continued)

34. #EE)

(b) Company (b) Z&AF
Capital
Share  redemption  Contributed Other  Accumulated
premium reserve surplus reserves losses Total
X
RARE EOfE N4 Rthfta 2 FR an
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tin TAn TAn Tin Tin
At 1 January 2016 R=F-7%-A-H 235,334 50 452 325 - - 687,709
Transfer from contributed surplus 4 ABHERZBHE

to accumulated losses B - - (452,325) - 452,325 -
Loss for the year ERER = = - - (658,561) (658,561)
At31 December 2016and 1 RZE-7E+ZR

January 2017 S+-AR-E-t%

-A-H 235,334 50 - - (206,236) 29,148
Cash advanced inrelationto A ERBLREREF T2

subscription of ordinary shares  (A7z£40(3)()

(note 40 (a)(i) - - - 20,000 - 20,000
Loss for the year ERER - - - = (124,097) (124,097)
At 31 December 2017 RZB-tE1+ZA

== 235,334 50 - 20,000 (330,333) (74,949)

- 158  Rosan Resources Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z_—FT—+F+-_H=1+—HIFE

34. DEFICIT IN RESERVES (continued) 34. REE)

(b) Company (continued) (b) AEQTF (&)

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as
a result of the reorganisations referred to in note
34(a) and represents (i) the excess of the fair value
of the shares of the subsidiaries then acquired,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares
issued in exchange thereof; (ii) the reduction of
capital pursuant to a special resolution passed
on 1 November 2007; and (iii) the reduction of
capital pursuant to a special resolution passed on
10 October 2012. Under the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 (as amended), the contributed surplus is
also available for distribution to the owners of the
Company. However, the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus, if:

(@) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and
its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.

Details of share premium account and capital
redemption reserve of the Company are set out in
note 34(a) above.

Pursuant to the special resolution, the directors
of the Company be and are hereby authorised
to use the amount standing to the credit of the
contributed surplus in any manner as may be
permitted by the Bermuda Companies Act 1981
and the bye-laws of the Company including,
without limitation, eliminating or setting off the
accumulated losses of the Company from time
to time without further authorisation from the
shareholders. During the prior year ended 31
December 2016, the contributed surplus was fully
utilised following approximately HK$452.3 million
were set off with the accumulated losses.

AR B R 1T M FE34(a) Pt
BEHEL ZBARBRIENER
P BB B R R i) < A FER
HEAKBEZSHB AR METLZ
RRFBDEE 2 858 ()RE
—EELF+-HA-BRBZE
RIRZBFRAETT Z BIARBIR K (iii)
BRER-_ZT——F+ATHEBE
Z R RR B FAETT 2 BRANHR
REBRE-NN-FREE
(BAEFT) ARSI AIH 5K
FTARBEAA AT WHIR
ATER AIARBAEBEHA
BERT EIRSOR S SAEL 2
K

() REEX(THBIHER =R
EHIRNRBEEEER
A=

() HEEZAIZREEER
HBEEREZEITERARRK
s (B 2 #ME -

B A5 IR & E R IE D
i 2FBE H N LXK E
34(a)-°

REBFBRRZR  AARESE
HEREZARE-NN\—FR
BARA AR Z A RIADRIA] BER
A2 ERASTAERBARRTE
F 2 EAAT 4 AR TR T BB 7B AR —
FEE - BRETRIERR IR
WARRTE 2 RFTER -BE
—E-AF+HA=t—BLF
[+ #7452,300,000/% 7T 2 A A
BERIRE MNEE RETEE -
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35. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Jinfeng, a 90% owned subsidiary of the Company, has
material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The NCI of
all other subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by the
Group are considered to be immaterial.

Summarised financial information in relation to Jinfeng
and its subsidiaries, before intra-group eliminations, is

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

35. FIERER
ARRHEEONEZ LB AR L
HmHEEREIERERZ FERE
wmD FMBEEMYIERALEEES
100%#E 75 < M1 B A7) 2 FE1E AR BE 75
WIRBTERK-

ML UREHBAT L HEER
(B0 4 81 P B 23 1 7 4 4 31 ) 486 it 4

presented below: T
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—+tF —ZT-RF
FHET FA&T
For the year ended 31 December HBZE+_-_A=+—HLFE
Revenue U 25 498,328 718,879
Loss for the year FRNEE (174,873) (246,305)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEEFEERER 2 BB (17,487) (24,605)
For the year ended 31 December HBZ+_-_A=+—HLEE
Cash flows from operating activities &2 )EH IR ERE (237,326) (193,986)
Cash flows from investing activities & &/EE 2R &R E (56,371) 16,109
Cash flows from financing activities B&/EE 2R SR E 207,019 (46,645)
Net cash outflows ReRHFHE (86,678) (224,522)
As at 31 December R+=—HA=+—8
Current assets MENEE 1,321,134 1,123,907
Non-current assets ERBEE 674,088 680,066
Current liabilities ViEIN=RE (2,578,769) (2,206,722)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (132,969) (92,593)
Net liabilities BEFH (716,516) (495,342)
Accumulated balance of NCI JEE AR E S v BET SRR (67,935) (51,345)

Note:

On 2 May 2017, an entity indirectly held by Mr. Bao acquired
the 10% equity interest in Jinfeng from the previous equity
holder. Mr. Bao became the holder of non-controlling interest of

Jinfeng since then.
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36. DISPOSAL OF A SUBIDIARY 36. HE—REMBE AT

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
an independent third party to dispose of all equity
interest in Jinfeng Mining Equipment, an indirect 90%
owned subsidiary, that carried out trading of mining
equipment and consumable tools, at a consideration
of RMB1,324,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,546,000). The disposal was completed on 28 June
2016, since then, the Group has no more control of
Jinfeng Mining Equipment.

Analysis of assets and liabilities of the subsidiary over

BE T XFt+-A=+—HItF
B AEEE—FBIE=FILE
Eipm HESLRELRE —MA
ANEE M EHEAIO%ERNKH B A
A RERESERREVMESERK)D
2 ERR - KRB A R #1,324,0007T
(FEE RN 41,546,000/ 7T ) HER =
T—RNENAZTNBRER BN
SETHEHSLRELRE-

ERAEFENNBRARCEERE

which the control was lost: BT -
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment EN S 257
Inventories TE 1,803
Trade receivables JE 8 BR 3R 22,076
Other receivables, net H fth & WK TBF 58 18
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHEeEEER 2
Trade payables JE 1~ BR 3K (17,031)
Other payables H fth & < 508 (3,453)
Tax payables &7 18 (1)
Dividend payables FERT AR B (4,938)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR A 100
Net liabilities attributable to the owners to the BEHERRTHEE ARG
Company disposal of BEFE (1,077)
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve upon o — RE T B A B R 5o [ 3O B
disposal of a subsidiary {1 (160)
(1,237)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHNB AR 2,783
Total consideration BRE 1,546
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary for the ZN€E & & — R E A AR SR
current year: AJFHE
Consideration received in cash and cash RekBeFEBEERLWKE
equivalents 1,546
Less: cash and cash equivalents of a subsidiary B EHEMBRARIZRE KRS
disposed of ZEIEE (2)
Net cash inflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RKBARRIRERAFE 1,544
BEERERERAT

20175F% 161 -
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37. COMMITMENTS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

37. KREHNEE

(a) Capital commitment (a) EXEIE
As at 31 December, the Group had the following R-ZE—ARF+-_A=+—8"
capital commitments: REBB N TEARELRE -
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF —E-RF
FERT FHET
Capital expenditure contracted but B E] 4B R BHEH) & 4B
not provided for: Investmentina X : R—RENBARZ&
subsidiary (note 40 (a)) & (MI5E40(a)) 25,500 -
Acquisition of property, plant and WEEM R - BRPs N2k
equipment 768 -
26,268 =

(b) Operating lease commitments
The Group as lessee

As at 31 December 2017, total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of land and buildings and office
equipment payable by the Group are as follows:

(b) REERAAE
FEBEREBEA
RZF—tHF+=-A=+—H"
AL ERETAHEREEHAOR
T RBFRRDERBRENZ
A & S K 40 1 FABER 1R I 1

T
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF —E-RF
THET FAT
Within one year —F R 1,072 361
In the second to fifth years inclusive S —FZF A F
(BEEMFEER/REAN) 1,185 102
2,257 463

The Group leases certain properties under operating
leases. The leases run for an initial period of one to
ten years (2016: one to ten years), without option
to renew the lease term at expiry date.

lease includes contingent rentals.
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. HAREE

Financial guarantee

On 28 July 2015, Jinfeng entered into an agreement
(the "Agreement |1”) with an independent third party
(the “Counterparty A"), pursuant to which the parties
have agreed to provide mutual guarantees with respect
to each other. Both parties agreed that should any
party (including its subsidiaries and holding companies)
(“Borrower A") apply for a loan(s) from a bank or
financial institution (“Lender A"), if the Lender A so
requires, then the other party shall provide a guarantee(s)
for the obligations of the Borrower A under the loan on
the terms and conditions contained in the agreement.
The total amounts to be guaranteed by each party shall
not exceed RMB50.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$60.0 million). The effective period of the Agreement
| shall be from 28 July 2015 to 28 July 2018 (“Effective
Period |"”). For each guarantee to be provided by
each party within the Effective Period I, the maximum
guarantee period is three years from the date of the loan
agreement. As of 31 December 2017 and 2016, there
were no outstanding borrowing which is guaranteed by
Jinfeng in relation to the Agreement I.

On 13 April 2017, lJinfeng entered into an agreement
(the “Agreement II”) with an independent third party (the
“Counterparty B”), pursuant to which the parties have
agreed that should any party (“Borrower B"”) apply for a
loan(s) from a bank or financial institution (“Lender B"),
if the Lender B so requires, then the other party shall
provide a guarantee(s) for the obligations of the Borrower
B under the loan on the terms and conditions contained
in the agreement. The total amounts to be guaranteed by
each party shall not exceed RMB9.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$10.8 million). The effective period of
the Agreement Il shall be from 13 April 2017 to 12 April
2018.

As at 31 December 2017, a bank borrowing amounting
to approximately RMB7.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$8.4 million) has been withdrawn by
the Counterparty B and pursuant to the Agreement Il, the
corresponding amount has been guaranteed by Jinfeng
accordingly. The guarantee period of the guarantee
provided by Jinfeng is three years from the date of the
loan agreement.

B S ER
RZE—RFELAZ+NBE KAF
MEFE2ENBARSEH — R BT
F=ZFUHFHADIL Dt
(IZWBE—1) Bt EHREEAER
HERER-EHFRE MEMN—TF
(BREEMBAR RZERAE [ ER
AADRIRTTER & MR ([ ERAAD)
REER WERAAER  BIS—F
BB EFTHGER RIEERERA
ARER THEBRHER - SAET
ERz2BETITESBBAREK
50,000,0007T( 48 & 7 460,000,000
BIL) B — 2 BSHAEZS—AF
+tAZt+tNHEZE=ZZEZ—N\F+ A
“+NBTEHBA—D-REFRE
BH—ABTFREZEBEERMS -
BAEREABER M ZB RS =
F-RZEBE—LtFR_ZT—RF+=
AR=+—H YERSLHninzE &
REOOKREREE-

E

R_FE—+tFNWA+=A &£L8H—
HZBIE=F(EAHBDAIL— D1
Z(mzE=]) Bt 50T o
] — 77 ([ fE R AB) MR 1Tk & mb A%
BIERABDRFEENR 5—HER
15 19 5% P &k R A& 1 B & SR ABR
ERTHEBREEZR(WERABE
K)o BABTFRRARZBETSBBA
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MA+=H-

N—FE—+F+=-HA=+—H HA
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 38. RABBE (&)

Financial guarantee (continued)

At the reporting date, no provision for the financial
guarantee was made as, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the fair value of the financial guarantee
is insignificant at initial recognition. The directors of the
Company do not consider it probable that a claim will be
made against the Group under the guarantee as of the
end of the reporting period.

. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had the following material transactions with
related parties during the year and in the prior year:

(a) Compensation of key management

B R(E)

KA E B X\ B S RIE L
BE RARARREEZRS M
ERRTERFH QI FERIK B
AAREEZRREERREHRAE
ERBERFEL RENATEET K-

. BEALRS

B EMBHmREMENDABREZR
BREHRIN AEBEBEALRE
AR E—FEEUANTERRS :

(a) EEEBAEZHMS

personnel
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'000
—E—tF —TRF
TR FET

Short-term benefits: FEHEIE A

Fees, salaries and other allowances We EHe MEERL 5,306 5,307
Post-employment benefits: BER IR RN -

Retirement benefit scheme ROKAE ) FT 8 K

contributions 43 42
5,349 5,349
(b) Financing arrangement (b) BEZH
Details of interest-free loans advanced from certain EFEEATREN R BEEFRE
related parties are disclosed in note 28. IERMI 284 55 ©

A LA M ERBIRME 2 ERF
15T EE27 304 R o

Details of guarantees provided by Mr. Bao and his
spouse are disclosed in the notes 27 and 30.

- 164  Rosan Resources Holdings Limited Annual Report 2017




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBERRWE

—F—tF+A=t—HULFE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #Z

40. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

40. MEHRSER

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated

BRAGRE SRR M T i EE

financial statements, the following significant events took G A RBEAEHER-_ZE—+F+=

place subsequent to 31 December 2017: A=+—H1#&%4 -

(@) As set out in the announcements of the Company (@) WMARFBHSRAB T —LF
dated 13 October 2017, 18 October 2017 and 3 +A+= E —+F+A
January 2018 and the circular of the Company RAN=D S )\¢ A=H1

dated 28 November 2017,

the following

transactions were subsequently completed on 3
January 2018:—

NERAKR T HER_T—tF
T—HAZ T \BREEATE - A
TREGNR_E—-\F—HA=H%x

X
()  Pursuant to the subscription agreement (i) WEARAAR(EAZREITA)
dated 13 October 2017 (the “Subscription BIgth R EBRE A
Agreement A”), entered into between the (BREARRERHES
Company as the issuer and Retop International ANERREA)FT AR

(ii)

Investment Limited (in which Mr. Bao is the
ultimate beneficial owner) as subscriber in
relation to the allotment and issue of an
aggregate of 100,000,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company of HK$0.10 each

HE-_ZT—+tF+A+=
AreREHZ(RBIHS
Al): EE%X&EX"/:.\#\
100,000,0008% & A% m &
0.108 TH ARSI A& 2

(the “Subscription Shares A") credited as M TaR(RERS
fully paid, at the issue price of HK$0.20 per Al) BETEBABIRAER
Subscription Share A for a cash consideration PA 0208 L HERE
of HK$20 million which was received by the /520,000,000 00 & &
Company as of 31 December 2017, and —F—+tF+-_HA=+—

classified as other reserve in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

Pursuant to the another subscription

(ii)

BARRREWBIZAME - 5%
RERNGAEDZEBRK
DIRRE MR

REARRBR(ER/ETA)

agreement dated 13 October 2017 (the B 2 H AR 5T A (] ZFE S A
“Subscription Agreement B”), entered into (VEBREE A)EISI A B EA

between the Company as the issuer and Mr.
Li Xiangfei (“Mr. Li") as subscriber in relation
to the allotment and issue of an aggregate
of 100,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company of HK$0.10 (the “Subscription
Shares B") credited as fully paid, at the issue
price of HK$0.20 per Subscription Share B for
a cash consideration of HK$20 million. Upon
completion, Mr. Li owns 9.61% of the issued
share capital of the Company.

A_ZEZ—+tF+A+=H
ZE—HhREHE(RE
%%M)m%&%ﬁmA
100,000,000/% & A% m &
0.10% LM ABRYI A&LE
BT B R RER A
B|) B1TEATRRER
7B 0.20%8 L K B &
20,000,000 7T ° 5eAk 1% -
TEEBEBEARAN
9.61%E BETTRR AN

BMEERERBRLRA 201755
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40. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

(a)

(b)

(@)

(continued)

(ili) Pursuant to the acquisition agreement dated
13 October 2017 entered into between the
Company as purchaser and Minan Holding
Limited as vendor in relation to the sale
and purchase of the entire issued share
capital of Goal Getter Ventures Limited (the
“Acquisition Agreement”). The acquisition
of the entire issued share capital of Goal
Getter Ventures Limited and its subsidiaries
(“Goal Getter Group”) at a consideration
of approximately HK$25.5 million, by way
of allotment and issue of an aggregate of
127,500,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.10
each in the share capital of the Company (the
"Consideration Shares”) credited as fully
paid, at the issue price of HK$0.20 per share.
Goal Getter Group is principally engaged
in the manufacturing and sale of building
materials at Xingyang City, Henan Province,
the PRC. Its customers are mainly constructors
and buildings developers located within Henan
Province, the PRC.

As set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 14 February 2018, the Group entered into
three loan agreements with three shareholders of
the Company respectively. Pursuant to the loan
agreements, these shareholders agreed to provide
unsecured and interest-free loan with an aggregate
amount of RMB600 million for a term of three years
to the Group. The loans are repayable in full or by
instalment subject to further negotiations, within 36
months of the drawdown date. As of the date of
approval of these consolidated financial statements,
loans amounting to RMB80 million (equivalent to
HK$99.1 million) have been advanced to the Group.

As set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 22 March 2018, the Group obtained the
approval from the relevant government authority for
the resumption in operation of Xingyun Coal Mine.
Meanwhile, the Group has decided to apply to the
Coal Bureau for closure of Xiaohe Coal Mine No. 3
and to cease its operation permanently.
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40. HREWREHA )

(a)

(b)

(@)

(&)

(i) WEBEARTERESF)HE
Minan Holding Limited
(ERER )MEEEEE
BERAANEZHEETT
BMATZIWBBHAR_-F
—tEFTAT=AZKE
(B tHE) &6
LA 1TE S MR0.20/8 T L
BERBOIARABRES S
#£127,500,000/% & A% T &
0.1078 TR ARSI BBUE Y
e BT RERS D
TERERKERN0.20%
) WEEEARERA
AREMBAR(EESR
H D2 EEBITRA R
{8 #425,500,000/% 7T ° &
EEBFENSERE
ARG ERERE
EREME AEFXER
BRI R B A )R AR
BTRER-

mARARIHEHAE—Z—\F_H
THOHNRAEMSH  AEEHEAK
REZBBREDBIFI L =HERK
E - REERBR ZERR
AERASBEREBEAEARKE
600,000,000t EEFRBE
BB =F BERANRERA
Hi#E36E AN S EE sk »
EE(BE—THER) RAKE
FHRRESEZH BERAR
¥80,000,000t( #H & ®R
99,100,000/ ) E et T A&
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41. BUSINESS COMBINATION — AFTER THE 41. ¥Eet—HmEHPKRE

END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 13 October 2017, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party, Minan
Holding Limited, to acquire 100% equity interest in
Goal Getter Group at a consideration of approximately
HK$25.5 million, by issuing 127,500,000 Consideration
Shares at the issue price of HK$0.20 each of the
Company (note 40 (a)(iii)). The acquisition was completed
on 3 January 2018. This acquisition has been accounted
for by the acquisition method. The acquisition is that the
Company can diversify its business segments to engage
in the manufacturing and sale of building materials in the
PRC.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the Group is still in the process of assessing
Goal Getter Group’s indentifiable assets and liabilities as
well as their fair values as of the completion date.

R_ZE—tF+A+=0 A5EEH
— % ¥ 3 % = 77Minan Holding
Limited&] 32 — 10 3 3% - AW BB = A
AR DA NI00%E#E KELH
25,500,000 7T ' B BILETEZK
0.207% JT 3 77127,500,0000% 1K (B I&
1 M 2 A (B 5240 (a)iii)) o W BB R —
T N\E—HA=Hxmk WEFERK
BEAR-ETHBEEEESAR
RIAIZ LI XKD REBEEREHR
B R HE ML o

N E M mERELEZ B NE
BDEFESEREAEMNIEERR
BRERNTTK B #Z A FE -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which
results from both its operating and investing activities.
The Group does not have written risk management
policies and guidelines. However, the board of directors
of the Company meets periodically to analyse and
formulate strategies to manage the Group’'s exposure
to market risks, including changes in interest rates and
currency exchange rates. Generally, the Group introduces
conservative strategies on its risk management. The
Group's exposure to market risk is kept to minimum. The
Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments
for hedging purposes. The Group does not issue
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge
its obligation under the terms of the financial
instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group.
The Group's exposure to credit risk mainly arises
from granting credit to customers in the ordinary
course of its operations and its investing activities.

Carrying amounts of the financial assets presented
in consolidated statement of financial position
are net of impairment losses, if any. The Group
minimises its exposure to the credit risk by
rigorously selecting the counterparties, performing
ongoing credit evaluation on the financial
conditions of its debtors and tightly monitoring
the ageing of the receivables. Follow-up actions
are taken in case of overdue balances. In addition,
management reviews the recoverable amount of
the receivables individually or collectively at each
reporting date to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk on pledged bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents is also limited because the
Group's pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents are all deposited with major banks
located in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit policies have been followed by the Group
since prior years and are considered to have been
effective in limiting the Group's exposure to credit
risk to a desirable level.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group has a certain concentration of credit risk
as 95.5% (2016: 93.9%) of the Group's accounts
receivable was due from the Major Customer.

Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from accounts
receivable is set out in note 24.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews
prepayments, deposits and other receivables for
evidence of impairment on an individual and
collective bases. As at 31 December 2017, the
Group determined deposits and other receivables
of approximately HK$49.8 million as individually
impaired (2016: approximately HK$46.5 million).
Based on this assessment, impairment loss of
approximately HK$0.5 million was recognised
during the year (2016: approximately HK$2.3
million).

Other than those disclosed in note 38, the Group
does not provide any financial guarantee at the end
of the reporting period which would expose the
Group to credit risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.
Financial instruments bearing variable rates and
fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

B=E

—F—tF+A=t—HULFE

M EREE )

(a)

(b)

ERARGE)

REED BiREFERRELRA WTZE\
BXR mMAKERBEEBCR
BEBERBAEE 2 EE R R
FIRBKF -

AEBZEERBEIEZESER
F 2 @5 ﬂ%%%oﬂﬁ%%
R AEEEHETEERRES
ZER RRAETERF(hER
BR X 295.5%( = F — XN F:
93.9%)°

ARAASEEBYIRTRAAASZ 2
EERBRZE—SELHEBERRN
fif5E24
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SREAERINENRIE KK
H fth jE W BB R B IR R E B
R RZE—tEF+-A=1+—
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K B A & MR TE 4949,800,0007%
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (continued)

The interest rates and terms of repayment of the
Group's bank and other loans are disclosed in note
30. The Group's exposures to fair value interest rate
risk and cash flow interest rate risk on financial
liabilities are minimal. The directors of the Company
consider the Group’s exposures to cash flow interest
rate risk on bank balances as follows:

Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the
Group's loss after income tax and accumulated
losses to a possible change in interest rates of
+/- 0.5% (2016: +/- 0.5%), with effect from the
beginning of the year. The calculations are based
on the Group’s bank balances held at the reporting
date. All other variables are held constant.

BE—F—+#+-A=+—HAILFE

42. BIEEMREREE)
(b) R=REB(E)

REBRITREMERFERE
FAEF IR BRI 5E30 o AN B &
XrzEBReRAaBEs AFENE
R EE e REFERBMTE
M- A RRZEERBAEE AT
ZEBRITEHBZEHERENE
R0 -

HBEDH

TREMEFE  NEERAT
BRI E1R & R E 1RSI R
BEH R +/- 0.5%(ZZF—RF -
+/- 0.5%) 282 GURRE - Ty
REARER RS BMEE 2R
TRSE -BREMAZERE
REFINEE -

Decrease/
(increase) in
loss after
income tax and
accumulated

losses
MRETSHEBEE
FEFEE
(R2),/#hn
HK$'000
FAT
31 December 2017 —E2—+F+-_HA=+—H
+0.5% +0.5% 598
-0.5% -0.5% (598)
31 December 2016 —E—RF+=HA=+—H
+0.5% +0.5% 605
-0.5% -0.5% (605)

The assumed changes in interest rates are
considered to be reasonably possible based on
observation of current market conditions and
represents the management’s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rate over the
period until the next annual reporting date.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis included in the consolidated
financial statements of the year ended 31 December
2016 has been prepared on the same basis.

The Group manages interest rate risk by monitoring
its interest rate profile regularly. The Group adopts
a policy of ensuring that most of its borrowings are
on a fixed rate basis. The policies to manage interest
rate risk have been followed by the Group since
prior year and are considered to be effective.

Foreign currency risk

The sales and purchases of the Group are
predominantly in RMB which is the functional
currency of the related group entities. The directors
of the Company therefore are of the opinion that
the Group’s sensitivity to the changes in foreign
currencies are low and the Group and Company do
not hedge their foreign currency risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. The Group is
exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of
its financial obligations, and also in respect of its
cash flow management.

The Group's objective is to ensure adequate funds
to meet commitments associated with its financial
liabilities. Cash flows are closely monitored on
an ongoing basis. The Group will raise funds
from the realisation of its assets if required. As at
31 December 2017, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$618,182,000
(2016: HK$487,158,000) and a capital deficiency
of approximately HK$76,588,000 (2016: equity
of HK$100,415,000). The liquidity of the Group
is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain
adequate cash inflows from operations and from
the measures adopted by the directors of the
Company as detailed in note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements to meet its debt obligations.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 42. BEEEEE#E)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued) d) ABELERE)
The liquidity policies have been followed by the ZNBESHRRBAFE—H
Group since prior years and are considered as MASELR BERAEERE
effective in managing liquidity risks. MBESRRAFEITZE R
The table below summarises the maturity profile of TRUAEDRITIRAS RE R
the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual AREEGRBEEZRHBR :

undiscounted payments:

Within 6 Total
months or 6-12 Over undiscounted Carrying
on demand months 1 year amount  Discount amount
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
~ER R
FRER RE EiE)

BE TR ER-F BEH g REE
TAL THAL THEL THEL THAL THAL

At 31 December 2017 W_Z—t#F

+-A=f+-H
Accounts and bills payables &8 & E & 817,863 - - 817,863 - 817,863
Other payables and R it e B R ST
accruals EH 455,922 - - 455,922 - 455,922
Amount due to an R —R%E A FH
associate B - - 99,589 99,589 - 99,589
Bank and other loans RIREMER 589,959 33,207 36,051 659,217 (12317) 646,900

1,863,744 33,207 135,640 2,032,591 (12,317) 2,020,274

Financial quarantee issued: B E{THIBER

Maximum amount BERZALE
guaranteed (note 38) (Kt338) 70,844 - - 70,844 - 70,844

At 31 December 2016 WZE—REF

+-A=1+-H
Accounts and bills payables & 83 R E ik 732,769 - - 732,769 - 732,769
Other payables and E it et B R ST
accruals EH 434,900 - - 434,900 - 434,900
Amount due to an R —R%E A FH
associate B - - 92,593 92,593 - 92,593
Bank and other loans BIREMER 353,921 127,474 - 48139% (8174) 473,221

1,521,590 127,474 92,593 1,741,657 (8,174) 1,733,483

Financial quarantee issued: B E{THIBER

Maximum amount BERZALE
guaranteed (note 38) (Kt338) 55,820 - - 55,820 - 55,820
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 42. BEEEEE#E)

(e) Business risk (e) HEKEB
The Group’s primary businesses are the production AEE FEEXEKARFTREE
and sales of coal and the trading of purchased coal &?ﬁ‘%ﬂi’%ﬁﬁ%&%ﬁé?ﬁ%)\ﬁﬁ%
in the PRC. The Group’s financial performance are S REECHBERERKEBEE
influenced by the changes in prices of coal, as well HRAEEEPHAEREEER
as by the Group’s ability to maintain or renew all HIENEHRAREERTRHAEER
requisite certificates, permits and business licences ﬁﬁ’ikﬁﬁﬁjﬁﬁﬁ-ﬁﬁ’jﬁﬁﬁmg =F
from relevant regulatory authorities in the PRC BREERRBIEENTE-

which is required for the Group to operate in the
production and sales of coal in the PRC.

43. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 43. REHHs zeMEERTHE
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY EEHME
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and AEEBR _ZT—LtEFER_ZT—RF
liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 T+ A=+ HERZEHEEKSE
may also be categorised as follows. See notes 3.14 and BEBMENAIEZE T AN ETHE
3.15 for explanations about how the category of financial BESRTAESBEIAEEREESS
instruments affects their subsequent measurement. TERIE  ERMEF3.14%3.15 ©
2017 2016
HK$'000 HK$'OOO
—E—+F —E—RF
FERT $/;§7'E
Financial assets TREE
Available-for-sale financial assets AN E S r\ﬁé? 710 660
Loans and receivables B3R & e R
— Accounts and bills receivables — AR E &KTF 221,340 176,692
— Deposits and other receivables — R & &AM Y IE 375,594 353,402
— Pledged bank deposits — DR ITER 616,880 523,592
— Cash and cash equivalents - HekRE&EEEE 170,878 178,134
1,385,402 1,232,480
Financial liabilities cRAE
Financial liabilities measured at REHKAGEZERERE
amortised cost
— Accounts and bills payables —ENERREE 817,863 732,769
— Other payables and accruals — H i fE N RRIE K
EETER 455,922 434,900
— Bank and other loans —RITREME K 646,900 473,221
— Amount due to an associate —FE — MBS A R A 99,589 92,593
2,020,274 1,733,483
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43. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

(continued)
Financial instruments not measured at fair value

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, all financial instruments
are carried at amounts not materially different from their
fair values except the following:

(i) The amount due to an associate amounting to
HK$99,589,000 as of 31 December 2017 (2016:
HK$92,593,000). In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the fair value of the balance has
not been determined as the timing of the expected
cash flows of these balances cannot be reasonably
determined because of the relationship.

(i)  The available-for-sale financial assets are measured
at cost less any identified impairment at each
reporting date because the range of reasonable fair
value estimates is so significant and the probability
of the various estimates is significant. Accordingly,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the fair value cannot be reliably measured.
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44, CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 44. EXERE

The Group’s primary objectives managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products and services commensurately with the
level of risk by securing access to finance at a reasonable
cost. the Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from that of prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which included outstanding borrowings of approximately
HK$1,468,817,000 as disclosed in note 3.1, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company, comprising share
capital and deficit, as disclosed in notes 26, 32 and 34,
respectively.

The Group actively and reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security
afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

45. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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45. R TR IERR T

2017 2016
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
iokza —E—+F —TNF
FExT FHIT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIKE 754,818 762,113
Less: Impairment loss on the B R BATZIREN
investments in subsidiaries HEEB (754,818) (645.576)
- 116,537
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other B FRIA - 124 & E A fE UL
receivables IE 337 162
Cash and cash equivalents Be RESZEIER 15,262 1,088
15,599 1,250
Current liability REBEE
Other payables E h FE 518 18,780 10,077
Net current liabilities BB EEE (3,181) (8,827)
Total assets less current liabilities BAEERMAEBAE (3,181) 107,710
Non-current liability FERBEME
Amount due to a subsidiary FE — AR B A Rl 2 5RIE 501 7,295
Net (liabilities)/assets (BB EERE (3.682) 100,415
EQUITY B
Share capital % 71,267 71,267
(Deficit in reserves)/reserves (FEBEA), iR 34(b) (74,949) 29,148
(Capital deficiency)/total equity (EZAE4L) (3.682) 100,415

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 29 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf

by:

Dong Cunling E#FIK

Director EF
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